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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

 

 Throughout this brief, Plaintiff and Appellant Bernadine Red Bear, shall be 

referred to as “Red Bear.”  Defendant and Appellee, SESDAC, INC., shall be referred to 

as “SESDAC.”  Decedent Bill Red Bear shall be referred to as “Decedent” or “Bill.” 

Any references to the trial transcript will be referenced below as “TT____” with 

the corresponding page(s).  Documents in the record herein will be designated as 

“R.____” and followed by the appropriate page number.   

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT 

Red Bear appeals from Order Granting Defendant’s Motion for Partial Summary 

Judgment
1
 filed on February 12, 2015 (R.912), Judgment on the Verdict filed on 

November 2, 2015 (R.1726) and Order Denying Plaintiff’s Renewed Motion for 

Judgement as a Matter of Law and Motion for New Trial filed June 9, 2016 (R.2352). 

Appeal is by right pursuant to SDCL §15-26A-3.  Notice of appeal was timely filed on 

July 8, 2016
2
.  R.2356.  

STATEMENT OF LEGAL ISSUES 

I. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED CLEAR ERROR, 

REVERSABLE ERROR AND ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY 

INTERPRETATING SDCL § 29A-5-507 TO EXTEND LEGAL 

GUARDIANSHIP BEYOND DECEDENT’S DEATH? 

 

SDCL  § 29A-5-507 

SDCL  § 34-26-14 and 34-26-16 

 

  

                                                 
1
 Red Bear’s Petition for Allowance of Appeal from Intermediate Order was denied by the Supreme Court 

on April 27, 2015.  R. 959. 

 
2
 Notice of Entry of Order Denying Plaintiff’s Renewed Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law and 

Plaintiff’s Motion for New Trial was served on June 10, 2016. 
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II. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED CLEAR ERROR, 

REVERSABLE ERROR AND ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY DENYING 

RED BEAR’S MOTION FOR CHANGE OF VENUE? 

 

SDCL § 15-5-11(2) 

SDCL § 15-6-47(a) 

SDCL § 15-6-59(1) and (7) 

Batson v. Kentucky, 106 S.Ct. 1712 (1986) 

 

III. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED CLEAR ERROR, 

REVERSABLE ERROR AND ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY DENYING 

RED BEAR’S REQUEST FOR A SPOILATION INSTRUCTION?  

 

IV. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED CLEAR ERROR, 

REVERSABLE ERROR AND ABUSED ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT 

DENIED RED BEAR A NEW JURY TRIAL BASED UPON THE 

INCONGRUENT AND AMBIGUOUS JURY VERDICT? 

 

  Reinfeld v. Hutcheson, 2010 SD 42, ¶ 19 

  Henry v. Henry, 2000 SD 4, ¶ 9  

  Baker v. Holman, 2011 WL 241, 14451, ¶ 13 (N.D. Miss 2011) 

 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

 Bernadine Red Bear alleges that SESDAC wrongfully and negligently caused 

the death of Decedent Darelle Red Bear.  Further Red Bear alleges SESDAC colluded to 

wrongfully and illegally dispose of Decedent Darelle Red Bear’s remains after his 

death.  These actions causing damages to the Plaintiff in this case.  

Red Bear appeals from Order Granting Defendant’s Motion for Partial Summary 

Judgment
3
 filed on February 12, 2015 (R. 912), Judgment on the Verdict filed on 

November 2, 2015 (R. 1726) and Order Denying Plaintiff’s Renewed Motion for 

Judgement as a Matter of Law and Motion for New Trial filed June 9, 2016 (R .2352). 

                                                 
3
 Red Bear’s Petition for Allowance of Appeal from Intermediate Order was denied by the Supreme Court 

on April 27, 2015.  R. 959. 
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Appeal is by right pursuant to SDCL §15-26A-3.  Notice of appeal was timely filed on 

July 8, 2016
4
.  R. 2356.  

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS 

 Between the dates of December 29, 2008 and January 4, 2009, Decedent Darelle 

“Bill” (or “Billy”) Red Bear became physically sick while developmentally disabled 

resident and in the sole care, and the “Yale House” group home in Vermillion, Clay 

County, South Dakota.  Decedent Bill Red Bear was exhibiting flu-like symptoms 

which became increasingly worse from December 29, 2008 through January 4, 2009. 

(TT 96-97, 100). 

Prior to December 29, 2008, Bill Red Bear had been a relatively otherwise 

healthy 49-year-old Lakota/Native American man who was declared a ward in need of 

guardianship from the service of his health, safety and welfare. (Ex. 12-21; TT 283-

284). Although he was a formal court ordered ward of the state of South Dakota since 

the late 1980s (Affidavit of Bernadine Red Bear ¶ 4), Decedent was a group home 

resident of the corporation called SESDAC, Inc., since 2000.  (TT 99-100).  Decedent 

was clearly in the physical care, custody and control of SESDAC at the Yale House in 

Vermillion in late 2008 and leading up to and including January 4, 2009. 

Because of Decedent’s increasingly worsening medical/physical condition 

between the dates December 29, 2008 and January 4, 2009, evidence suggests that he 

was in a dangerous deteriorating situation with his health. (TT 105-106, 178-179, 186-

188, 214-216, 283-284, 286-288). 

                                                 
4
 Notice of Entry of Order Denying Plaintiff’s Renewed Motion for Judgment as a Matter of Law and 

Plaintiff’s Motion for New Trial was served on June 10, 2016. 
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SESDAC employed part-time and full-time resident representatives through the 

time period that Decedent Bill Red Bear was a resident SESDAC. Two of these part-

time group home employees of SESDAC, Matthew Miranda and Ana Nesselhoff had 

contact with Bill at or about the time he became “unresponsive” and ultimately quit 

breathing. (Miranda depo., p. 51-85, 90-91; Nesselhoff depo. p. 47-72; Exhibit 1). 

At or about 3:45 p.m. on Sunday, January 4, 2009, Miranda came on duty at the 

end of Nesselhoff’s shift. (TT 46-56). He found Bill Red Bear unresponsive. (TT 105-

106).  Miranda called his supervisor first (Hower depo. p. 24-25), then called 911 (TT 

147-149). Vermillion police officer Robin Hower responded and began CPR. (TT 141-

143).  The ambulance was dispatched and arrived. Bill is still not breathing on his own, 

and efforts to resuscitate him went on during the transport to the hospital four blocks 

away. (TT 47-56; O’Connor depo. p. 25-53). Bill exhibited heart responses which 

indicated a showing of life still, in his body, until he got to the hospital. (TT 196, 278-

279).  Despite efforts to revive Bill, he was pronounced dead at 5:03 p.m. The doctors 

asked SESDAC official’s O’Connor, Weipen and Nikki Clark, if any autopsy was 

desired.  They said no. (Quote “Team” TT 100, 147-151).  Weipen, O’Connor and 

Nikki Clark consulted with each other hospital after Bill died, as to what was to be done 

with Bill’s remains. No meaningful nor adequate attempt was made to contact Bill’s 

next of kin, who were the legal persons per SDCL §34–26–16(2), 34–26–14, to decide 

upon what to do with Bill’s body and his remains. (Affidavit of Bernadine Red Bear ¶6; 

O’Connor depo. p. 26-29, 46-49). Instead, Clark, Weipen and O’Connor with Velda 

Bartel’s input jointly decided that Bill would be immediately cremated as soon as his 

body parts could be harvested. (Clark depo. p. 15-21; O’Connor depo. p. 25-53). Mr. 
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Bob Hansen, funeral director, was present and heard and witnessed these discussions, 

and learned that these post–death discussions and intentional conduct were jointly 

collaborated between SESDAC and Clark, and the motivating force was to save money 

(Hansen depo. p. 11-12); Hansen did not testify at trial because of the Court’s pretrial 

ruling). It seems convenient that once Bill’s body would be cremated with no autopsy, 

less would be known as to why he died suddenly seriously and mysteriously that day. 

Because of this intentional post–death conduct, Bill’s rightful next of kin, 

Plaintiff and all of Bill’s siblings, (SDCL §34– 26–16(2)), were denied the right and 

opportunity to take care of their beloved brother’s remains in a spiritual, proper and 

ceremonial way according to Lakota culture, beliefs and custom.  (Affidavit of 

Bernadine Red Bear ¶11).  The Siblings only became aware of Bill’s death and what 

happened to his remains, when his brother Kenneth Red Bear called SESDAC in early 

April 2009 to speak to Bill and was only then informed what had happened, and what 

had been done. (Ken Red Bear Affidavit ¶14, 15 and 16; Ken Red Bear TT 337; 

Bernadine Red Bear TT 642-643).  The family found out that Bill was sick for at least 

five days, then suddenly died. No autopsy was done. His remains were quickly 

cremated. His tissue and bones were harvested and he was placed in an unmarked 

pauper’s grave in Vermillion. (Affidavit of Bernadine Red Bear ¶16, Bernadine Red 

Bear TT: 643).  SESDAC attempted to evade answering the questions posed by the 

family in April 2009. SESDAC chose to cover it all up and hoped it would just go away, 

ironically, just like Bill, and his body. (Affidavit of Bernadine Red Bear ¶24; Bernadine 

Red Bear TT: 642). 
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SESDAC had a contractual and agency relationship with the State of South 

Dakota which allowed SESDAC to wrongfully and illegally dispose of Decedent Red 

Bear’s remains and cause Plaintiff damages.  

A. The Contractual/Agency Relationship Between the State of South Dakota 

and SESDAC.   

In the South Dakota Department of Human Services documents found in 

documents provided by Defendant SESDAC in discovery in the case, are several 

references to the contractual relationship between SESDAC and the State Department of 

Human Services (Ex. 10). 

Bill Red Bear was in the care, custody and control of SEDAC since 2000 and up 

to and including the date of Bill's death in Vermillion on January 4
th

, 2009, Decedent was 

a resident of SESDAC's Yale House from December 2008 through January 4th, 2009. 

(O'Connor depo. p.4, 11; Affidavit of Bernadine Red Bear ¶13).  

SESDAC, since 2000, had entered into a series of contracts with the State of 

South Dakota Department of Health Services (DHS), Division of Developmental 

Disabilities, called "Purchase of Services Agreements." (Ex. 10). The purpose of the 

agreements, in particular the agreement/contract in effect from June 1st, 2008 to May 31, 

2009 (Ex. 10), was "made for the purpose of providing Home and Community Based 

Services." 

Under Section 8, Licensing and Standards Compliance, the contract between 

SESDAC and DHS states that: 

The Provider [SESDAC] agrees to comply in full with all licensing and other 

standards required by Federal, State, County, City or Tribal Statute, regulation or 

ordinance in which the service and/or care is provided for the duration of this 

agreement. Liability resulting from noncompliance with licensing and other 
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standards required by Federal, State, County, City, or Tribal statute, regulation or 

ordinance or through the Provider's failure to ensure the safety of all individuals 

served is assumed entirely by the Provider. (Emphasis added). (Ex. 10). 

Under Section 9-Assurance Requirements, the contract between SESDAC and 

DHS states: 

The Provider agrees to abide by all applicable provisions of the following 

assurances: Lobbying Activity, Debarment and Suspension, Drug-Free 

Workplace, Title VI of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, Section 504 of the 

Rehabilitation Act of 1973, Title IX of the Education Amendments of 1972, Age 

Discrimination Act of 1975, Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, Health 

Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPPA) of 1996, Charitable Choice 

Provisions and Regulations, and Deficit Reduction Act of 2005. (Emphasis 

Added). (Ex. 10). 

 

The contract also applies to Section 19 as it concerns subcontractors of SESDAC. 

(Ex. 10, p. 5).  

The contract also specifically addresses the issue of the Hold Harmless 

contractual obligations, in Section #20: 

The Provider agrees to hold harmless and indemnify the State of South Dakota, its 

officers, agents and employees, from and against any and all actions, suits, 

damages, liability or other proceedings which may arise as the result of 

performing services hereunder. This section does not require the Provider to be 

responsible for or defend against claims or damages arising solely from errors or 

omissions of the State, its officers, agents or employees. (Emphasis added). (Ex. 

10). 

 

 B.  The Court’s Order of Guardianship 

 

 By virtue of the contract between SESDAC and DHS, both entities share 

responsibility to comply with all laws, regulations, standards and ordinances applicable to 

providing care, custody and control of developmentally disabled persons 

(residents/participants) such as Bill Red Bear living in a SESDAC group home. Betty 

Oldenkamp, then the Secretary of DHS, was formally appointed as the guardian of 

Darelle "Bill" Red Bear by Order Appointing Guardian dated August 31
st
, 2001 and 
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signed by Circuit Judge Arthur Rusch in Vermillion. (Ex. 11).  In the August 31
st
, 2001 

Order, the Court found that Bill "is impaired to such an extent that he lacks the capacity 

to meet the essential requirements of health, care, safety, habilitation or 

therapeutic needs without the assistance or protection of a guardian. The court finds the 

appointment necessary to protect him from neglect, exploitation, and abuse." ... Emphasis 

added). (Ex.11). The Court also ordered that, "[2] Letters of Guardianship shall issue to 

Betty Olderkamp, Secretary of Department of Human Services, or designee or successor 

upon the filing of an Acceptance of Office. 3. The guardian shall have the authority to 

make decisions regarding the protected persons support, care, health, habilitation, 

therapeutic treatment, and, if not inconsistent with an order of commitment or custody, 

determine the protected person's residence. .... " (Emphasis added). (Ex. 11). 

The Court's August 31
st
, 2001 Order goes on to state: [4]. ... The guardian shall 

exercise his authority only to the extent necessitated by the protected person' s 

limitations, and if feasible, shall encourage the protected person to participate in 

decisions, to act on his own behalf, and to develop or regain the capacity to manage his 

own personal affairs. The guardian shall, to the extent known, consider the express 

desires and personal values of the protected person when making decisions, and shall 

otherwise act in the protected person's best interests and exercise reasonable care, 

diligence and prudence. (Emphasis added). (Ex. 11, 28-32).  

The Order of August 31
st
, 2001, also requires the guardian to report the current 

physical condition of Bill, the medical and other professional services provided to Bill, 

and the guardian's evaluation as to the adequacy of the care, and the guardian’s opinion 

as to the current treatment plan.  (Ex. 11). 
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On or about September 23, 2004, Ms. Oldenkamp," as of September 1, 2004 [she] 

has designated Nikki Clark to act as her designee for Bill" (Ex. 23). No formal 

"Acceptance of Office" appears to have been filed, however. (Contrary to Ex 11, p. 2). 

That was made a legal requirement by the Order of August 31
st
, 2001. 

 Despite the assertions made by Nikki Clark, the SESDAC officials and/or the 

DHS officials, as to their alleged "attempts" or "efforts" to contact Bill Red Bear's 

"family'' or "next of kin" following Bill's death [or even during his prolonged illness], the 

known documented facts support and suggest that very little, if any so-called "attempts" 

or "efforts" were made by Clark/SESDAC/DHS to contact Bill's immediate family 

members (Bernadine, Christine, Rachel, Wilma, Sharon, Albert, Kenneth, Cleo or Ben). 

(Affidavit of Bernadine Red Bear ¶l6 and 17; O'Connor depo. p. 14-26). 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

 Review of the issues herein fall within the abuse of discretion standard.    Bland 

v. Davison County, 1997 SD 92, ¶ 5 (citing to State v. Peterson, 515 N.W.2d 687, 688 

(SD 1994); State v. Arguello, 502 N.W.2d 548, 551 (SD 1993); State v. Wellner, 318 

N.W.2d 324, 331 (SD 1982)). 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

 The trial court erroneously interpreted the guardianship statute, SDCL § 29A-5-

507, to extend guardianship beyond death.  Under South Dakota law, the decision as to 

disposition of Decedent’s remains should have been decided by Decedent’s next of kin, 

who were identified and known to SESDAC.  SDCL § 34-26-14 and 34-26-16.  

SESDAC did next to nothing to contact Decedent’s family after his death and did 

nothing to contact them when Decedent became gravely ill.  SESDAC’s agents or actors 
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simply decided Decedent should be cremated and his organs donated.  He was then 

placed in an unmarked pauper’s grave.  Decedent’s family was not made aware of his 

death until months later. 

 Due to the trial court’s erroneous interpretation of the guardianship statute, 

partial summary judgment was granted to SESDAC and thereby precluded Red Bear 

from being able to bring forth facts and claims to the jury that were necessary for Red 

Bear to prove causation.   

 The trial court erred in denying Red Bear’s motion for change of venue when the 

Defendant SESDAC was a major employer in the jury pool area.  Change of venue 

should have been granted also based on the fact that the scope of the jury pool included 

little to no Native Americans.  The only Native American to be empaneled was struck 

by SESDAC. This prejudiced Red Bear and created reversible error.  

 Red Bear requested a spoliation instruction.  The trial court denied the 

instruction.  Red Bear was severely prejudiced by not having the instruction as it placed 

a burden of proof upon Red Bear that was beyond preponderance of the evidence and 

was essential to Red Bear’s ability to prove causation. 

 The jury verdict in this case was ambiguous and incongruent.  The trial court 

committed reversible error by not granting Red Bear’s motion for new trial. 

ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES 

 

I. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED CLEAR ERROR, 

REVERSABLE ERROR AND ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY 

INTERPRETATING SDCL § 29A-5-507 TO EXTEND LEGAL 

GUARDIANSHIP BEYOND DECEDENT’S DEATH? 

 

The appointment of any guardian for Bill, legally and effectively terminated by 

law according to SDCL § 29A-5-507, upon the moment of Bill's death. (Ex. 21) . So any 
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and all negligent or intentional conduct of SESDAC or its agents, resulted in violation of 

and unlawful acts concerning Bill’s next of kin rights. The outrageous post-death 

conduct of SESDAC and Clark and others, jointly and with planning and intentional 

execution, constitutes a direct invasion of the Plaintiff s rights to possess and handle the 

remains of their deceased brother. See Chisum v. Behrens, 283 N.W.2d 235, 240 (SD 

1979); (Ex. 28, 29, 30, 31-34). 

According to SDCL § 34-26-14, South Dakota statutory law says: 

Right to custody of dead body--Coroner's custody pending inquest. The 

person charged by law with the duty of burying the body of a deceased 

person is entitled to the custody of such body for the purpose of burying it. 

However, in the cases in which an investigation or inquest is required by 

law to be held upon a dead body, by a coroner, such coroner is entitled to 

its custody until such inquest has been completed. (Emphasis added). 

 

According to SDCL § 34-26-16, the statutory law states: 

Persons charged with duty of burial--Grave marker. The duty of burying 

the body of a deceased person and providing the grave with a permanent 

concrete, metal anchored in concrete, or stone marker devolves upon the 

persons hereinafter specified: 

(1) If the decedent was married the duty of burial devolves upon the 

husband or wife; 

(2) If the decedent was not married but left any kindred, the duty of burial 

devolves upon the person or persons in the same degree nearest of kin to 

the decedent, being of adult age, and within this state and possessed of 

sufficient means to defray the necessary expenses;  

(3) If the decedent left no husband or wife or kindred answering the 

foregoing description, the duty of burial devolves upon the coroner 

conducting an inquest upon the body of the decedent, if any such inquest 

is held; if none, then upon the person charged with the support of the poor 

in the locality in which the 

death occurs. (Emphasis added). 

 

According to SDCL § 29A-5-507: 

 

Termination of guardianship or conservatorship upon death of protected 

person. A guardianship or conservatorship of a protected person shall 

terminate upon the death of the protected person, if jurisdiction is 
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transferred to another state, or if ordered by the court following a hearing. 

(Emphasis added). 

 

According to SDCL §29A-5-505, the statutory law says: 

 

Termination of guardianship or conservatorship upon minor's death or 

majority--Adoption or emancipation of minor. A guardianship or 

conservatorship of a minor shall terminate upon the minor's death or 

attainment of majority, if jurisdiction is transferred to another state, or if 

ordered by the court following a hearing thereon. A guardianship, but not 

a conservatorship, shall also terminate upon the minor's adoption or 

emancipation, and the court may elect to continue a guardianship until the 

minor's attainment of age twenty-one if the guardian was appointed 

pursuant to the provisions of chapters 26-7 A, 26-8A, 26-8B, and 26-8C. 

(Emphasis added). 

 

Despite the plain language of SDCL §29A-5-507, the trial court decided that the 

guardianship granted by the court in earlier years had a residual effect beyond death and 

allowed SESDAC to legally handle Decedent’s remains.  If the Court had applied the 

correct interpretation of SDCL §29A-5-507, and found that no legal guardianship existed 

beyond 5:03 p.m. on January 4, 2009, the minute of Bill's death, then the only 

actors/entities left, were the SESDAC officials, and their uninterrupted, continual 

and continuing care, custody and control of Bill and his body. SESDAC's own policies  

 

included duties to fulfill in the event a "client" of SESDAC, were to pass away while in  

 

their custody, physically, constructively and /or impliedly. 

 

 The hospital was in no legal position to make any of the post death decisions for 

the rightful decision makers, Bill's family members. SDCL §34-26-16(2). Clark had no 

legal authority to act at all on behalf of Bill, his remains, or his family, as of 5:03 that 

day. As it turned out, SESDAC influenced everything Clark did that day anyway. (Ex. 

31).   
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 Although there are no cases directly on point dealing with the interpretation of 

SDCL §29A-5-507 under circumstances such as these, there are also no other laws, cases 

or statutes which authorize the Trial Court to determine that a legal guardianship such as 

this, survives or should survive beyond the specific time of the death of the "protected 

person" in a "residual" or continuing way (such as the Court indicated in January 2015. 

The Trial Court was merely speculating on the law, and loosely interpreting the plain 

meaning of this particular statute, to encompass a meaning that is not even a part of the 

statute. This cannot be legally done and should have not been done here. This created 

great uncurable prejudice to Plaintiffs entire case. 

In looking at the precise language of the statute in SDCL §29A-5-507, the three 

parts of the single sentence statute, are clearly meant and intended by the state legislature, 

to be read and interpreted "disjunctively", and not "conjunctively". Red Bear did argue 

this aspect at the time of the motions hearing in 2015. 

Helpful authorities exist that do assist in coming to the conclusion that the trial 

court in interpreting SDCL §29A-5-507, made a clear error, and abused its discretion in 

deciding that the guardianship continued beyond the time of death. 

In Wilcox v. Warren Const. Co., 95 Or. 125 (Or. 1919), the Supreme Court of 

Oregon decided a case involving the interpretation of a state statute concerning who had a 

right to bring an action in a negligence wrongful death case. The Court there, in citing a 

New York case, Isaac v. Denver, etc. R.Co., 12 Daly (N.Y.) 340, dealt with the statutory 

interpretation of the word "or" and the word "and", being cited in a single statute, and 

stated: 

"It is a rule in the exposition of statutes that they are to be construed with 

reference to the principles of the common law, and therefore the law infers that 
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the act did not intend to make any alteration other than what is specified. Dwarris 

on Statutes, 695. The words 'or' and 'and' are not always, in deeds and wills, held 

to a strict grammatical sense; but 'or' may be taken for 'and,' and 'and' for 'or,' as 

may best comport with the intent and meaning of the grant or devise (Jackson v. 

Blanshan, 6 Johns. [N. Y.] 57 [5 Am. Dec. 188]); and this may be done in a 

statute, but there should be strong reasons, in conformity with a clear intention 

(Potter's Dwarris on Statutes, 199, note 16), because it is a much more serious 

matter to make such a change in a statute, as a statute is general in its operation; 

and it certainly should not be done unless it is very clear that such was the intent, 

taking the whole of the statute together, the general rule being, in respect *132 to 

statutes, that words are to be taken in their ordinary sense, and not to be extended 

or changed to comprehend cases within the supposed intention of the Legislature, 

as courts cannot correct supposed errors, omissions, or defects in legislation; the 

office of the courts being, as has been said by Dr. Leiber, to bring *16 sense out 

of the words, and not bring a sense into them." (Emphasis added). Wilcox, Id. at 

131-32. 

 

The Wilcox court also went on to explain how the interpretation of a given statute 

involves the use of grammatical construction as well, and averred: 

It is common learning as a matter of grammar that when in an enumeration of 

persons or things the conjunction is placed immediately before the last of the 

series the same connective is understood between the previous members. If the 

disjunctive conjunction "or" is used, the various members of the sentence are 

taken separately, while if "and" is used they are to be considered jointly. For 

instance, deeds are to be acknowledged "before any judge of the Supreme Court, 

county judge, justice of the **19 peace, or notary public." L. 0. L. § 7109. It is 

manifest that the officers named are to be taken separately, and that the 

acknowledgment is not to be taken before all of them. The service of one is 

sufficient. Other illustrations will readily occur to the mind. 

 

"Or" is defined as a "disjunctive often with either or whether as a correlative, used 

to introduce a word or phrase expressing an object or action, the acceptance of 

which excludes all the other objects or actions mentioned." Standard Dictionary, 

1733. (Emphasis added). Wilcox, Id at 141. 

 

Instructively, the Wilcox Court went on to also say: 

 

More like the Oregon statute is that of the Missouri Code (Rev. St. 1899, § 8820), 

quoted in Cole et al. v. Mayne (C. C.) 122 Fed. 836, reading thus on the point 

involved:  

 

And in case of loss of life by reason of such violation or failure as aforesaid, a 

right of action shall accrue to the widow of the person so killed, his lineal heirs or 
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adopted children, or to any person or persons who were, before such loss of life, 

dependent for support on the person or persons so killed. 

 

Judge Philips, construing this enactment, said: 

 

The plain grammatical construction of this statute, which names the beneficiaries 

disjunctively, gives the right of action: First, 'to the widow of the person so 

killed'; next, 'to his lineal heirs or adopted children'; and, third, if there be no 

widow, lineal heirs, or adopted children, 'to any person or persons who were, 

before such loss of life, dependent for support on the person or persons so killed.' 

* * * The necessary conclusion from which is that the statute does not give a joint 

cause of action to all the designated beneficiaries, but an exclusive cause of action 

to the parties designated, if living, in their order. The logical result therefrom is 

that no cause of action under this statute arises in favor of the children where the 

deceased left a widow." (Emphasis added). Wilcox, Id. at 134. 

 

Other informative authorities on the statutory interpretation issue are found in 

Central Standard Life Ins. Co. v. Davis, 134 N.E.2d 653,658 (Ill. App.2d 1956); Lithium 

Corp. of America, Inc. v. Town of Bessemer City, 135 S.E.2d 574,577 (N.C. 1964); State 

ex. rel Nat. Bank of Commerce of Seattle v. Frater, 140 P.2d 272,275 (Wash. 2d 1943); 

Gutierrez v. Estate of Guitierrez, 786 S.W.2d 112, 113 (Tex. App. S.A. 1990); Burch v. 

Griffe, 29 S.W.3d 722, 726 (Ark. 2000) (functions and powers of the guardian cease 

when the ward dies, and that, likewise, the court's power to act also ceases). 

The erroneous statutory interpretation by the trial court led the trial court to grant 

SESDAC’s motion for partial summary judgment as to the Count III claims (Failure to 

Seek Proper Consent for Handling of Deceased Body and Cremation, Negligent Infliction 

of Emotional Distress, Intentional Infliction of Emotional Distress and Punitive Damages 

claims), taking away nearly half of Red Bear’s cognizable and justifiable causes of action 

asserted in the Second Amended Complaint.  That one decision had such a material and 

significant effect on the Plaintiffs ability to have a fair and just trial, and ultimately and 

directly resulted in the result which did occur-a jury finding of "Negligence" against 
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SESDAC, but no finding of causation of Decedent Bill Red Bear's death as a result of 

that negligence. 

That singular decision by the Trial Court to gut those Count Ill claims and the 

Punitive Damages claims from the Plaintiffs case, and from the case in chief, had an 

effect on the entire case, the strategy, the trial tactics, and the arguments that Plaintiff 

could or did make or pursue at trial. That one wrongful decision infected the entirety of 

the proceedings, and poisoned the jury's ability to hear all of the claims of the Plaintiff 

and all of the Plaintiffs case, so as to leave the jury speculating not just on the law to 

apply, but to also speculate upon the "cause" of Bill's death, to the point that the jury 

somehow concluded that Plaintiff did not or could not prove "causation" of Bill's death as 

linked to SESDAC's conduct. 

This is the very scenario that Plaintiff argued would happen as a result of the trial 

court's ruling initially upon the Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on Count III 

claims, then later, in the Motion to Reconsider said ruling, and the Plaintiffs Motion in 

Limine, and Plaintiffs Responses to Defendant's Motions in Limine (specifically motion 

in limine concerning the Count III claims). 

In the instant facts of this case, SESDAC and its agents/actor failed to reasonably 

contact and notify Plaintiff and Bill’s surviving family members of Bill’s sickness from 

December 30, 2008 through January 4, 2009, or his death, the refusal of autopsy, the 

harvesting and donation of his body parts, his cremation, and/or his subsequent burial in 

Vermillion.  The documentary evidence supporting this assertion were provided to the 

trial court in response to SESDAC’s motion for partial summary judgment. (See App. 

Red Bear’s SUF).  These facts included, but are not limited to: 
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1. Judge Jensen’s November 7, 2007 Order Approving Guardian's Annual 

Report (Ex. 12), the court found that...A. Due notice was given to the 

protected person and the relatives and interested parties as required by 

SDCL §29A-5-410, ... (Emphasis added). The Notice of Entry of Order of 

said Order dated November 19, 2007 indicates that a copy of the Order 

was sent by first class mail to: Rachel & Christine Red Bear, Box 452, 

Allen, S.D. 57714. (Ex. 13). Both Nikki Clark and Jenna Wiepen 

(SESDAC Support Coordinator) were sent copies as well. (TT 96-100). 

 

2. A confidential facesheet dated October 26
th

, 1999 was provided to Red 

Bear in discovery and is marked as Ex. 14. There is very distinct 

handwriting in the lower right darner of that document which states "once 

a week Bill can call Brother in evenings. Canada 306-332-5577. Albert J. 

Red Bear." This document proves that this DHS document dated 1999 was 

in Bill's SESDAC file on hand at SESDAC in Vermillion. It also proves 

that Bill's b 1other Albert had been calling for and receiving calls from 

Bill at Albert's phone number in Canada during the period referenced in 

the handwritten note. (Ex. 14); (TT 96-100). 

 

3. A Notice of Entry of Order dated September 28th, 2002 indicates that the 

Notice was sent to Rachel & Christine Red Bear in Allen, South Dakota 

(Ex. 15). This is a document from SESDAC's file on Bill Red Bear. (TT 

96-100). 

 

 4. A Notice of Hearing dated August 1st 2002 also indicates the Notice was 

sent to Rachel & Christine Red Bear in Allen, South Dakota. (Ex. 16). 

This is a document from the SESDAC file on Bill Red Bear.  

5. A Notice of Entry of Order and Notice of Rights dated September 4
th

, 

2001, was sent to Christine Red Bear (Bill's mother), in Allen, S.D., and 

Rachel Red Bear (Bill's sister) in Allen. (Ex.17), citing SDCL §29A-5-

313. This is a document that came from the SESDAC file on Bill 

Red Bear. 

 

 6. A petition for Appointment of Guardian in Case No. GDN No. 01-24, 

dated June 15
th

, 2001, includes the names and addresses of "[the] Bill Red 

Bear's nearest relatives "including Christine Red Bear, mother; Rachel 

Red Bear, sister; Albert Red Bear, brother. (Ex. 18). 

 

 7. When asked a question out of the blue by Jenna Weipen of SESDAC 

about "where he wanted to be buried", Bill Red Bear in 2008 (less than 1 

year before his sudden unexpected death) replied: "I wanted to be buried 

next to my friend." (Wiepen depo. p. 1-36; Orr depo. p. 61-62; Plaintiffs 

SUF # 33, 55-59, 61). Bill was referring to a friend in Vermillion who 

died and was buried in a grave in the cemetery. 

 

 8. SESDAC officials, in their team meeting documents in 2008, made several 
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references to a so called "Burial Fund" with an SPID # 32652 and target 

dates (Ex. 19, p. SESDAC 2119, SESDAC 2123, 2124). 

 

 9. In a Support Plan Meeting on August 15
th

, 2002, the Report said that: "Bill 

would like to be more involved with his Native American culture. He has 

been to a Pow Wow and really enjoyed and would like to meet with a 

medicine man and go to a sweat lodge. Bill's PCSI and his SC will assist 

Bill in doing these things. "(Ex. 20; p. SESDAC 984). 

 

10. In the same Support Plan report of August 15
th

, 2002, the report said: "Bill 

wants to connect with his family members. Staff will assist Bill in writing 

letters to the addresses we do have (the addresses will be kept in his 

working file). Dawna Anderson is also looking into connecting with the 

tribal council for more information on His family members. (Ex. 20; p. 

SESDAC 1005-06). 

 

 11. In a social history document (Ex. 21; p. SESDAC 994-996), Christine Red 

Bear (mother) of Allen, S.D. is listed as the contact person. Bill's siblings 

are listed on that same page and include: Bernadine, Rachel, Sharon, 

Gloria, Virgus, Albert, Kenneth, Clifus and Benny.... In that document, it 

says: "Bill states that he is very close to his family, however, there has not 

been much family contact in the last 12 years. Bill would like to see his 

family more and be able to go home to the Pine Ridge reservation". (Ex. 

20; p. SESDAC 995). And, the document states that, "Bill does not 

currently have a pre-planned burial arrangement. (Emphasis added). (See 

also Affidavit Albert Red Bear ¶11 ). 

 

 12. A handwritten letter written by Bill Red Bear to his mother Christine Red 

Bear, dated March, 2008. (Ex. 27). 

The Court should find reversible and clear error in the trial court’s decision.  

Additionally, the Court should find the trial court abused its discretion by the summary 

judgment ruling and subsequent pretrial rulings and post-trial rulings related to that issue. 

II. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED CLEAR ERROR, 

REVERSABLE ERROR AND ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY 

DENYING RED BEAR’S MOTION FOR CHANGE OF VENUE? 

 

The trial court committed clear error, reversible error and/or an abuse of 

discretion in not granting the Plaintiffs Motion for Change of Venue.  

A. SESDAC’s Relationship with the Community. 



19 

 

Approximately 65 potential jurors were called in to jury selection. Many of them 

were in fact acquaintances, neighbors, affiliates, and/or business associates, of SESDAC 

or SESDAC officials or clients.  Red Bear was forced to weave her way through these 

sensitive areas while unavoidably exposing the entire jury panel to statements made about 

SESDAC's close relationship with the community of Vermillion, the businesses, or how 

SESDAC did a lot of good things. It created prejudice to Plaintiff in that out of the entire 

panel, at least 10 to 15 were excused or preempted by Plaintiff as a result of SESDAC 

contact. See SDCL §15-5-11(2) and SDCL §15-6-47(a) (bias and prejudice), and SDCL 

§15-6-59(1) and (7).  

Red Bear moved for a change of venue before trial for this reason and the trial 

court denied said motion. The fact that SESDAC was well known to almost every 

35 potential juror, proved that this venue would not provide an impartial jury willing to 

award damages against a fellow lock business, who "did good" in the community. 

  B. Racial Discrimination/Diversity. 

The trial court committed clear error, reversible error and/or an abuse of 

discretion in not granting the Red Bear's Motion for Change of Venue. Approximately 65 

potential jurors were called into jury selection. Out of that pool of 65 potential jurors, 2 

potential jurors admitted that they were Native American citizens themselves. Mr. White 

Horse, and Ms. Daniels. Red Bear, Red Bear's counsel, all of Decedent's siblings (4 of 

whom testified), and Decedent himself, are all Lakota, Native American citizens. A civil 

jury is supposed to be constitutionally diverse so that representative racial minority 

groups should be fairly represented on juries of "their peers". That was most certainly not 

the case. When race, and racial prejudice was addressed by Red Bear’s counsel, many 
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prospective jurors revealed their truthful bias or influence based upon race, and some 

were excused. Mr. White Horse said he knew one of Red Bear's witnesses, so he was 

excused. But Ms. Daniels, a young Native American woman who worked in Sioux Falls, 

was taken off by one of Defendant's preemptive strikes. There was no nondiscriminatory 

basis of Ms. Daniels' strike from the jury given by Defendant. It was an obvious move to 

remove the last remaining Native American potential juror, from the panel. Batson v. 

Kentucky, 106 S.Ct. 1712 (1986); and SDCL § 15-6-47(a) (bias and prejudice) and 

SDCL §15-6-59(1) and (7); State v. Roach, 825 N.W.2d 258, 267 (S.D. 2012). Plaintiff 

should be entitled to a new trial on all claims in a different venue for this reason. 

 

III. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED CLEAR ERROR, 

REVERSABLE ERROR AND ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY 

DENYING RED BEAR’S REQUEST FOR A SPOILATION 

INSTRUCTION?  

 

The stage was set for a confusing case to be tried on the issue of causation, 

because the very evidence that Red Bear needed to overwhelmingly prove to a jury as to 

the nexus or link between SESDAC's negligent conduct and Bill's death, was deprived of 

Red Bear. Red Bear was deprived from presenting the evidence Red Bear had to prove 

that intentional decisions made by the SESDAC individuals in conjunction with Nikki 

Clark and the State of South Dakota DHS Advocacy officials, to not have an autopsy 

done ( despite the presence of a very suspicious cause of sudden death to an ordinarily 

healthy 49 year old man), to quickly have his body parts harvested and donated ( eyes, 

connective tissues, bones, ligaments, etc), and to quickly cremate the entirety of the 

bodily remains of Decedent that was left which could have been autopsied with 48 hours, 

and to then bury his ashes in an unmarked grave. With modem technology, a deceased 
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body can be preserved for months on end, to allow time to contact next of kin. SESDAC 

was allowed to conceal, dispose of and to spoil, the very evidence needed to prove 

causation. 

It is because of the Court's decision to take away those claims for Plaintiff, that 

the Plaintiff was denied at trial, the just legal opportunity to have a "Spoilation of 

Evidence" jury instruction(s) so introduced, read, argued and considered by the same jury 

that heard five (5) days of testimony. The jury was not given that opportunity to even 

consider that option under the law. 

For the Spoilation of Evidence instruction (proposed instruction No. 21 and 22; 

TT 960-961), would have completely shifted the burden of proof to the SESDAC, the 

"spoliator" of the evidence, which was most critical to prove the "causation" of Bill's 

death.  There were no intervening events or circumstances in the time or events in the six 

(6) days that Bill was sick, while he was in the uninterrupted and continuous care, 

custody and control of SESDAC and its officials. There we no other actors to blame for 

the negligent care that Bill received, or more appropriately, did not receive, during those 

six (6) days. The jury actually found SESDAC guilty of "Negligence". (Ex. 39).  The 

Spoilation instruction would have mandated that the jury place the burden upon SESDAC 

of proving that Bill's death was not caused the SESDAC's negligence, instead of placing 

that entire burden upon Red Bear. That is an aspect that most likely would have resulted 

in a significant money damage award for Plaintiff for compensatory damages, and would 

have also allowed the jury to consider punitive damages as well. The entire case would 

have come out differently, in that the jury would have still found "negligence" upon 

SESDAC, and that SESDAC's negligence, at least "more likely than not", "caused' Bill's 
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death. Then, it would have been an easy conclusion for the jury to make that SESDAC's 

actions in destroying the evidence and disposing of his body, was intentional, oppressive, 

malicious, callous, and a reckless disregard for the rights of Bill's family (SDCL § 34-26-

16 rights) in being able to possess, handle and bury their family member's remains. 

The jury would have been able to hear all of the testimony about what happened in the 

minutes, hours, days, and months following Bill's death, and how SESDAC did all it 

could to keep Bill's death, and the circumstances of Bill's death, from his family, and 

from anyone who wanted to know the truth (including the alleged official investigators 

from the State DHS agency who were never told the whole story). 

 The facts as to spoliation are plenty.  Bill Red Bear died suddenly and 

unexpectedly on January 4th, 2009 at or about 5:03 p.m. (1703 hrs). He had been 

otherwise healthy, and was only 49 years old. (TT 102). He was given no medical care or 

examination at all from the time he became seriously ill on or about December 29th, 2008 

and continued to get worse on through and up to the date of his death on January 4
th

, 

2009 (TT 213-16). The cause of death was suspicious. The police investigation concluded 

that there was no foul play. (Hower depo. p. 36-38). The coroner did not intervene to 

order an autopsy, which he very well could have. The treating doctors at the Hospital 

asked the SESDAC officials and the Guardian, if an autopsy was desire (Clark depo. p. 

22; Weipen depo. p. 11-36; O'Connor TT 136-40). The "joint" decision between State 

officials, the "Guardian", and the SESDAC officials, was made at the Vermillion 

Hospital almost immediately upon Bill's declaration of death. (Clark depo. p. 12-33; 

Hanson depo. p. 6-19; O'Connor, TT 136-40; Red Bear’s SUF 48-54, 62-65). The "joint" 

decision made by State officials, the "Guardian," and SESDAC officials, to cremate Bill's 
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remains was made within two (2) hours after his death, and likely even sooner than that 

(O'Connor depo. p. 25-53; O'Connor, TT 136-140). The "joint" decision made by State 

officials, the "guardian" and SESDAC officials, to allow for the harvesting of Bill's body 

parts (corneas, leg and arm bones, vertebrae, ligaments, etc.), was made at the same time 

as the decision to cremate. (Clark depo. p. 12-33; Hansen depo. p. 7-19; O'Connor depo. 

p. 25-53; O'Connor, TT 136-45). Despite the fact the "guardian" and SESDAC officials 

stated that the decisions not to have an autopsy (despite the uncertain, sudden and curious 

death), the decision to cremate his body and the decision to allow harvesting of his body 

parts, were made without concern for economics (concerns for the cost of an autopsy or 

regular embalming, funeral and burial), Mr. Hansen the funeral director who was also at 

the Hospital, testified that in fact, according to the way that he observed and heard things 

on the arrangements, all of the decisions to do what SESDAC/ClarTHS agreed to do with 

Bill's body, was "entirely based upon economics" ( cost of the added services). (Hanson 

depo. p. 6-19; Ex. 19, 3, 22, 21, 23, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32; O'Connor depo. p. 25-53).  Hansen 

said that SESDAC determined that Clay County should shoulder the expenses for the 

cremation, funeral and burial. (Hanson depo. p. 8). Obviously, SESDAC's and Clark's 

denials that economics was involved in the decision making as to cremation, no autopsy, 

organ donation, should have created an absolute and genuine dispute of material fact on 

that issue alone. Hanson depo. p. 6-19), (Ex. 22). 

 In the case at hand, Bill Red Bear was in the care, custody and control of 

SESDAC for all time and circumstances of his life leading up to the moment of his death. 

SESDAC and the State had a legal responsibility under SDCL § 34-26-16(2) and §34-26-

14, to use reasonable, due diligence to search for and find and contact Bill's next of kin 
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about his prolonged illness, and then, immediately after he was declared dead. Instead, 

SESDAC officials and independent contractor Clark (with Bartel's input too) made a joint 

determination to quickly and cheaply dispose of Bill's remains without due consideration 

or due diligence to allow Bill's rightful next of kin to decide what to do with Bill's body 

and remains. SESDAC and Clark, jointly decided, then acted to use the quickest and 

cheapest means to dell with the messy problem of a mentally disabled Native American 

man who suddenly died SESDAC custody and control, under uncertain and suspicious 

circumstances. Defendants jointly agreed to refuse an autopsy that would have shone 

greater light on the actual cause of death, (neglect or otherwise), and to quickly cremate 

the evidence of his body, but not before giving parts of that body to tissue harvesters. 

(O'Connor depo. p. 25-53; Red Bear's SUF 62, 63 64, 65; TT 134-42). 

Neither Clark nor Velda Bartel (State independent co actor/former SESDAC 

employee, and employee), acted solely by themselves. (Contra to Sec. 2f, of the contract 

between SESDAC and DBS). According to SDCL §29A-5-507, Clark and Bartel had no 

legal authority to act at all once Bill died. All decision-making and intentional and 

negligent conduct was done jointly with the SESDAC employees and with SESDAC's 

consultation, influence, input, motivation and acquiescence. (O'Connor depo. p. 25-53; 

Plaintiff's SUF 62, 63, 64, 65); O'Connor, TT 136-40; Ex. 36, Transcript of South Dakota 

Lions Eye Bank interview on January 4, 2009). Facts exist, and would exist in a 

subsequent trial on these issues, that the ESDAC officials controlled all of 

those post death decisions. 

 SESDAC spoiled evidence in this case and did so at an alarming rate.  The Court 

should find the trial court abused its discretion when failing to allow Red Bear a 
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spoliation instruction and trial court’s decision caused clear prejudice and reversible error 

in Red Bear’s case. 

 

IV. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED CLEAR ERROR, 

REVERSABLE ERROR AND ABUSED ITS DISCRETION WHEN 

IT DENIED RED BEAR A NEW JURY TRIAL BASED UPON THE 

INCONGRUENT AND AMBIGUOUS JURY VERDICT? 

 

The jury in this case found SESDAC negligent in its verdict, but then provided 

nothing regarding causation and nothing for damages.  In Baker v. Holman, the court 

granted a motion for new trial on just such an incongruency. 2011 WL 241, 14451, *13 

(N.D. Miss June 13, 2011). The plaintiff in Baker brought a Section 1983 claim along 

with a negligent infliction of emotional distress claim against a former police officer. The 

jury found for the plaintiff on the negligent infliction claim but determined that the 

plaintiff was entitled to “0.00” in damages. Id. at *1. The court averred: 

In order for the jury to render a Plaintiff’s verdict for negligence-based emotional 

distress, the jury must have found that the Plaintiff proved ‘substantial proof of an 

emotional harm’ as well as ‘emotional distress damages’ stemming from that 

harm. The jury must have also found that the Defendant caused such injuries. 

However, the jury essentially negated the finding of an actual emotional injury by 

rendering a verdict of zero damages. 

 

Id. at *12.  

 

The court analyzed other cases and consistently found that where a defendant is 

liable to a plaintiff for negligence it is inconsistent to award zero damages. Citing, Davis 

Hanson Aggregates Southeast, Inc., 952 So.2d 330 (Ala. 2006) (“[A] finding that a 

defendant is liable to a plaintiff for negligence is inconsistent with an award of no 

damages.”); Fox v. Colony TV & Appliance, Inc., 37 656 A.2d 705 (Conn. App. 1995) 

(holding that because the jury was instructed the finding of liability involved a finding of 

negligence, which was a substantial factor in causing plaintiff’s injuries, a plaintiff’s 
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verdict with zero damages total was inherently ambiguous); Alabama Power Co. v. 

Epperson, 585 So.2d 919 (Ala. 1991) (holding that the trial court correctly granted a new 

trial on the basis of inconsistency between the award of no damages when that award was 

juxtaposed with the jury’s finding of the defendant’s liability in a negligence action)." 

The Baker court went on to hold the jury’s verdict could not be reconciled with 

the evidence and accordingly a new trial was warranted. Id. at *13. 

A similar situation occurred in Hall v. Bergman, 994 A.2d 666 (2010), where the 

plaintiff brought both intentional and negligent infliction of emotional distress claims, 

both of which under Connecticut --- like under South Dakota law regarding negligent 

infliction of emotional distress --- required proof of actual injury. The jury rendered a 

verdict in favor of the plaintiff but awarded zero damages. Id. at 668. The Court stated: 

[W]e must presume that the plaintiff established actual injury under all three of 

her claims, we also must presume that the plaintiff established damages stemming 

from that injury. As the Appellate Court observed, however, this presumption is 

inconsistent with the jury’s award of zero damages. Consequently the jury verdict 

in favor of the plaintiff is insolubly ambiguous. In other words, in such 

circumstances, ‘it cannot be stated with certainty either that the jury found that the 

plaintiff failed to prove any damages or that the jury was confused as to the 

correct interplay between damages and liability … the appropriate course of 

action when such an ambiguous verdict is [returned] is to order a new trial on all 

issues. 

 

Id. at 674 (internal citations omitted). 

 

Indeed a verdict of zero damages is difficult to reconcile. In Malmberg v. Lopez, 

the court drove this point home when declaring: 

An explicitly stated award of zero damages differs from an award of nominal 

damages. A plaintiff’s verdict with a nominal damage award ordinarily suggests 

that the jury found that despite the defendant’s liability, the plaintiff failed to 

prove damages … [t]he jury’s intent in rendering a plaintiff’s verdict with zero 

damages in a wrongful death action is far less clear. 
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While there is no exact case on point, South Dakota law supports the above 

positions. In Henry v. Henry, the South Dakota Supreme Court upheld the trial court’s 

decision to grant a new trial to a plaintiff where the jury awarded punitive damages on 

her intentional infliction of emotional distress claim but gave her zero compensatory 

damages. 2000 SD 4, ¶ 9, 604 NW2d 285. The court reasoned the jury’s verdict 

demonstrated they believed the plaintiff was subjected to outrageous misconduct because 

they awarded punitive damages. Id. Accordingly, an award of no compensatory damages 

on the same claim, when there was evidence in the record to support the award, was 

inadequate or inconsistent with the evidence. Id. 

In Reinfeld v. Hutcheson, the South Dakota Supreme Court upheld the trial court’s 

decision to grant a new trial in a personal injury action based upon the fact that the jury 

awarded medical expenses but nothing for pain and suffering. 2010 SD 42, ¶19, 783 

NW2d 284.  Likewise in Morrison v. Mineral Palace, Ltd., the South Dakota Supreme 

Court held that a new trial should be granted in a personal injury case where the jury 

awarded amounts for medical expenses but not for pain and suffering or permanent 

impairment. 1998 SD 33, ¶ 12, 576 NW2d 869, 872. See also, Welch v. Haase¸ 2003 SD 

141, ¶ 27, 672 NW2d 689, 698 (holding that a new trial should have been granted in a 

case where the jury awarded no damages as to certain defendants who admitted liability 

and where there was undisputed evidence of pain and suffering and pecuniary loss.) 

 The jury verdict in this case cannot be reconciled.  Accordingly the trial court 

abused its discretion by not granting a new trial.  
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CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, Red Bear respectfully requests this Court  

reverse the trial court’s decision a 

REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT 

     Red Bear respectfully requests to present oral argument on these issues. 

Dated this 28th day of October, 2016. 

      Respectfully submitted, 

      /s/ Shiloh MacNally 

      Shiloh MacNally 

       MacNally Law Office 

      816 Sixth Street 

      Rapid City, SD  57701 

      (605) 716-3867 

 

      Robin L. Zephier 

      P.O. Box 9460 

      Rapid City SD  57709 

      (605) 342-0097 
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JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT 

Defendant/Appellee SESDAC, Inc. (“SESDAC”), agrees with the 

jurisdictional statement proffered by Plaintiff/Appellant Bernadine Mae Shields,
1
 

as Administrator of the Estate of Darelle Red Bear (“Red Bear”).   

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES 

1. The circuit court properly granted SESDAC’s Motion for Summary 

Judgment on Count III.   

 

 Most apposite authorities: 

 

SDCL § 29A-5-507   

Clauson v. Kempffer, 477 N.W.2d 257, 258 (S.D. 1991) 

Farmland Ins. Companies v. Heitmann, 498 N.W.2d  620, 622 (S.D. 1993) 

 

 

2. The circuit court properly denied Red Bear’s motion for change of venue. 

 

 Most apposite authorities: 

 

City of Sioux Falls v. Johnson, 1999 SD 16, ¶ 32, 588 N.W.2d 904, 911 

Bland v. Davison County, 1997 SD 92, ¶ 5, 566 N.W.2d 452, 354-55   

State v. Arguello, 502 N.W.2d 548, 551 (S.D. 1993)   

 

 

3. The circuit court properly denied Red Bear’s request for a spoliation jury 

instruction. 

 

 Most apposite authorities: 

 

 State v. Engesser, 2003 SD 47, ¶ 15, 661 N.W.2d 739, 746  

State v. Wright, 1999 SD 50, ¶ 12, 593 N.W.2d 792, 797   

                                              
1
 Plaintiff/Appellant is identified as Bernadine Mae Shields a/k/a Bernadine Sheilds in the 

caption in this Court and the circuit court.  However, Appellant is identified throughout 

Appellant’s appeal brief as Bernadine Red Bear.  Accordingly, to avoid confusion, 

Appellee will also refer to Appellant as “Red Bear.”   
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4. The circuit court properly denied Red Bear’s motion for new trial based on 

alleged incongruent and ambiguous verdict. 

 

 Most apposite authorities: 

 

First Nat’l Bank v. Kehn Ranch, Inc., 394 N.W.2d 709, 720 (S.D. 1986)   

Bridge v. Karl’s Inc., 538 N.W.2d 521 (S.D. 1995) 

Kleiss v. Cassida, 696 N.E.2d 1271, 1278 (Ill. Ct. App. 1998) 

Gaston v. Viclo Realty Co., 626 N.Y.S.2d 131, 132 (N.Y. 1995) 
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

 Red Bear brought this action in her capacity as administrator of the estate 

of her brother, Darelle “Bill” Red Bear (hereafter “Bill”), who was mentally 

disabled.  Bill was a Native American and was declared a “protected person” and 

the State of South Dakota was made his legal guardian.  SESDAC is a private 

entity that assisted Bill with his personal, residential and vocational needs from 

September 2000 until Bill’s death in January 2009.  During his time at SESDAC, 

Bill’s siblings, including Red Bear rarely, if ever, had contact with Bill.     

 In late December 2008, Bill became ill and on January 4, 2009, Bill was 

found unresponsive in his room, and was taken to the local hospital, where he was 

pronounced dead.  The police and medical personnel determined that no autopsy 

was necessary and Bill’s guardian representative employed by the State of South 

Dakota authorized donation of Bill’s organs.  A professor who was knowledgeable 

in Native American burial customs was consulted about Bill’s funeral, and the 

decision was made to have Bill’s body cremated.  A funeral was held, during 

which many Native American customs were recognized.   

 Red Bear claimed SESDAC was negligent in its care of Bill when he 

became ill, resulting in his death.  Red Bear asserted a survival claim for Bill’s 

alleged physical and emotional pain prior to his death, and a wrongful death claim 

for Red Bear’s own alleged loss of companionship, love, affection and solace from 

Bill.  Red Bear also asserted that after Bill’s death, SESDAC failed to obtain 
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consent for handling Bill’s remains and for cremation.  Red Bear sought 

compensatory and punitive damages.    

 On SESDAC’s Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, the circuit court, the 

Honorable Steven Jensen, presiding, concluded SESDAC owed no duty to obtain 

consent for anyone’s handling of Bill’s remains, as it did not have custody or 

control of Bill’s body, and dismissed the claim relating to the handling of Bill’s 

body.  The circuit court also dismissed the claim for punitive damages.  The 

remaining claim of negligence went to trial and the jury found that while SESDAC 

was negligent, such negligence was not the proximate cause of any injuries, and 

therefore, awarded no damages.  Red Bear filed a Renewed Motion for Judgment 

as a Matter of Law or for New Trial, which the circuit court denied.  Red Bear 

appeals from the circuit court’s Orders granting partial summary judgment, 

denying motion for change of venue and denying motion for new trial.   

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS 

 SESDAC is a private, nonprofit community support provider located in 

Vermillion, South Dakota.  CR 492-93; 536.
2
  SESDAC, a home and community 

based program, is a non-institutional organization unlike a nursing home, hospital, 

or immediate care facility.  CR 537.  SESDAC assists persons with developmental 

disabilities by providing support for independent living consistent with their 

abilities.    

                                              
2
 Citations to the certified record are denoted “CR” followed by the appropriate page 

number supplied by the Clerk.   
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 At the time of his death in 2009, Bill was a 49-year-old Native American 

male who had been diagnosed with schizophrenia and mild mental disability.  CR 

540-41.  Bill also had a history of brain damage secondary to inhalant abuse, 

alcohol abuse, water intoxication, and threatening behavior.  Id.  In 1987, Bill was 

court ordered to reside at the Health and Human Services Center in Yankton, 

South Dakota, where stayed until 2000, when he became a resident of SESDAC.  

CR 553.  In 2001, Bill was declared a person in need of protection by the court, 

and the Secretary for the Department of Human Services (“DHS”) for the State of 

South Dakota was appointed as his legal guardian.  CR 562-63.  In 2004, Nikki 

Clark (hereinafter “Clark”) became Bill’s guardianship representative for the 

State.  CR 567.  Clark was not an employee or agent of SESDAC when acting as 

Bill’s guardian representative.  CR 566; 3162.   

 At the time of his death, Bill lived in one of SESDAC’s leased properties 

in Vermillion, commonly referred to as the “Yale House.”  CR 211; 492-93.  

There was at least one SESDAC support staff present in the house at all times to 

assist the residents with making meals, taking medications, getting dressed and 

cleaned, and various other daily tasks needed.  CR 555; 590.  SESDAC arranged 

for employment and a job coach for Bill, and also provided community and social 

activities during non-working hours.  CR 538.  

 While being supported by SESDAC at Yale House, Bill’s family had very 

little contact with Bill or SESDAC.  CR 560.  The last personal contact Red Bear 

had with Bill was in 1990 when he was still in Yankton.  CR 546.  Albert Red 
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Bear, Bill’s older brother, allegedly called Bill every six months, but never 

personally visited Bill while he lived at Yale House.  CR 596-96.  Bernard “Ben” 

Red Bear, Bill’s younger brother, testified that he never knew Bill moved to 

Vermillion, never talked with him on the phone, never visited him, and was not 

aware of any siblings visiting Bill in Vermillion.  CR 599. 

 On January 4, 2009, Bill was found unresponsive by SESDAC employee 

Matthew Miranda.  CR 591-92.  Bill was taken by ambulance to the Sanford 

Vermillion Hospital where he was later pronounced dead.  CR 558.   

 Rennae O’Connor, the services director for SESDAC, notified Clark of 

Bill’s death, and the two went to the hospital.  CR 558.  Once at the hospital, Clark 

contacted DHS in Pierre to notify the DHS Secretary, as Bill’s legal guardian, of 

Bill’s passing.  CR 558; 568.  Clark had discussions with DHS Director Jerry 

Hofer and another DHS employee, Velda Bartel, about decisions needing to be 

made about organ donation and disposition of Bill’s body.  CR 568; 3183. 

 O’Connor tried to call Bill’s family that night, but she was unable to reach 

any family members.  CR 556.  Neither Red Bear nor any other family member 

had provided any updated contact information to SESDAC, nor did she or other 

family members ever provide any contact information to DHS or the State.  CR 

550.   

 Bill’s manner of death was noted as “Natural Causes” on his death 

certificate.  CR 603.  The medical professionals and police who were present in 

the emergency room did not request an autopsy.  CR 557.  O’Connor had no input 
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into the decision not to conduct an autopsy; the decision was made by the medical 

professionals, the police department and the State (via Clark and Bartel).  CR 557.  

Clark, as representative of the State, and at the direction of Bartel and Hofer, 

declined an autopsy and gave the authorization to donate Bill’s organs.  CR 558; 

605-06; CR 1511-13; 3174-75.    

At trial, it was established that not one of SESDAC’s employees made any 

decisions regarding the handling of Bill’s care after he was removed from the Yale 

House by police and EMT officials, and specifically, not one of SESDAC’s 

employees made the decision to forego an autopsy.  CR 2639-40; 3061; 3071; 

3073; 3081; 3093.  It was further established that SESDAC had neither legal 

custody nor control over Bill; rather, the State of South Dakota was Bill’s legal 

guardian and Nikki Clark was Bill’s guardian representative on behalf of the State.  

CR 2842; 2852; 2886; 3048; 3063; 3161-62; 3174-75; 3181.   

 Although she had no legal obligation to do so, out of respect for Bill’s 

Native American heritage, O’Connor contacted Dr. Wayne Evans (“Dr. Evans”), a 

retired professor of Indian Studies at the University of South Dakota, who had 

significant personal contact with Bill, to inquire what the appropriate course of 

action would be for the burial of Bill’s body.  CR 556; 609.  Dr. Evans advised 

that either cremation or a traditional burial would be appropriate and acceptable to 

the Native American culture.  CR 556; 610. 

 On January 5, 2009, the State-employed guardian representative, Nikki 

Clark, authorized the cremation of Bill’s body.  CR 614-15.  Bill’s funeral was 
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held on January 8, 2009, at Trinity Lutheran Church and his remains were interred 

at Bluff View Cemetery in Vermillion, South Dakota.  CR 617-18.  Dr. Evans 

assisted with Bill’s funeral arrangements and brought the drum to conduct a 

traditional Native American funeral.  CR 610.   During the ceremony, Dr. Evans 

sang a prayer song during the service and did a wokiksuye, a remembrance song.  

Id.  When Bill’s remains were buried, Dr. Evans burned sage, said a prayer, 

offered tobacco, and released Bill’s spirit to the Creator with an eagle feather.  CR 

612. 

 O’Connor made further attempts to contact Bill’s next of kin on January 5, 

2009, but was unsuccessful.  CR 556.  It was not until April 2009, when a family 

member finally called SESDAC to speak with Bill that Bill’s family learned of his 

death.  CR 547-49. 

 Plaintiff, solely “as Administrator of the Estate of Darelle Red Bear,” and 

not in her individual capacity, filed this suit against SESDAC, alleging negligence 

in the care and handling of Bill both before and after his death.  CR 9.  In her 

Second Amended Complaint, Plaintiff alleged three counts:  (1) a survival claim to 

recover damages for the alleged negligence in causing Bill’s alleged pain and 

mental suffering prior to his death; (2) a wrongful death claim to recover damages 

for alleged negligence in causing Red Bear’s alleged loss of companionship, 

society, love, affection and solace; and (3) a negligence claim for failure to seek 

consent for the handling of Bill’s body and cremation.  CR 220-225.  Red Bear 

requested compensatory and exemplary damages.  CR 225.   
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 SESDAC timely answered, generally denying any negligence, as well as 

the nature and extent of the alleged damages.  CR 227-234.  SESDAC filed a 

Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, requesting the circuit court to find, inter 

alia, that as a matter of law, SESDAC owed no duty to Red Bear.  CR 480-81.  

SESDAC asked the circuit court to dismiss count three of Red Bear’s Second 

Amended Complaint – the claims based on a failure to seek consent for the 

handling of Bill’s body and cremation – with prejudice.  CR 480-81.  After 

briefing, a hearing on the Motion for Partial Summary Judgment was held, during 

which the circuit court explained: 

And there may be a duty that exists, but I think that duty exists to the 

party that has custody and control of Mr. Red Bear. And the court's 

– the court's view, as Mr. Red Bear died in the hospital, that the 

department was the entity as guardian that had actual legal custody 

of Mr. Red Bear’s body. You know, the hospital and SESDAC were 

involved. But, you know, as I read 29A-5-507, it says that a 

guardianship terminates upon death of the protected person if 

jurisdiction is transferred to another state or if ordered by the court 

following a hearing. I don't read that that statute automatically 

terminates the guardianship. And I think that the legal decisions in 

terms of Mr. Red Bear's – how Mr. Red Bear's body was going to be 

handled immediately fell upon the department.  

 

* * * 

 

But I don't – I don't read that SESDAC was that party to do that even 

though they had ongoing – for several years it had ongoing 

responsibility for care of Mr. Red Bear. You know, the duties prior 

to Mr. Red Bear's death are – you know, are alleged in paragraphs 

one – or counts one and two, and those aren’t at issue in this motion.  

 

But I think upon death, as I read the guardianship statutes and as I 

read the Chisum case, that the court understands – and I recognize 

there’s not a direct case on the issue – but the court reads the law 

that the duty of handling the arrangements for death of Mr. Red 
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Bear would have fallen on the state and not upon SESDAC. And I -- 

under the circumstances in viewing the light – the facts in the light 

most favorable to the plaintiff, the court determines that there's not a 

duty owed. And because of that determination, the court would note 

that – I think that that resolves both any negligence claim or any 

negligent infliction claim and as well as any intentional. . . . 

 

And so in viewing the light – the facts in the light most favorable to 

the plaintiff, I don’t think there’s any intentional acts that SESDAC 

took even if the court found some duty separate because of an 

intentional act. The court doesn’t find that the record supports any 

intentional or willful, wanton, malicious actions on the part of 

SESDAC, but I’m not sure that the court even needs to get there 

because I don’t think there’s a duty that was owed by SESDAC after 

Mr. Red Bear’s death. And therefore, I’m going to grant summary 

judgment as to count three of the complaint for the reasons stated. 

 

CR 951-54 (emphasis added).   

 The circuit court’s findings were stated in the Order:  “the law imposes no 

duty on the Defendant with respect to the claims made by the Plaintiff in Count 

Three of her Complaint” and “any duty that may have been owed to the Plaintiff 

with respect to the handling of the decedent’s body would fall to the decedent’s 

guardian, the State of South Dakota.”  CR 915.  The circuit court further 

concluded there was “no evidence that Defendant engaged in any intentional 

conduct which would support a claim for infliction of emotional distress.”  CR 

916.  Accordingly, the circuit court dismissed Red Bear’s third count by Order 

dated February 12, 2015.  Id.   

 The remaining counts – the survival action for negligence causing alleged 

pain and suffering to Bill and the wrongful death action for negligence causing 

alleged pain and suffering to Red Bear – went to trial October 19, 2015, through 
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October 22, 2015.  On the Friday before trial began, counsel for SESDAC 

produced a document to Red Bear’s counsel that was inadvertently previously 

undisclosed.  CR 2513.  The circuit court allowed Red Bear leeway during 

questioning, which satisfied Red Bear.  CR 2513-17; CR 2778-2798.  Red Bear 

does not raise this as an issue on appeal.   

 During voir dire, Red Bear’s attorney questioned the jury panel at length 

about any relationships to SESDAC or its employees.  CR 2389- 2435; 2444-45.  

During this line of questioning, a number of jurors who had relationships to 

SESDAC or its employees were struck for cause.  Id.  Additionally, while none of 

the jurors spoke of any prejudicial feelings towards Native Americans, some of the 

jurors did speak of their relationships with Native Americans in a positive light.  

CR 2437-2458.   

 The jury rendered its verdict on October 23, 2015.  CR 1721-22.  On the 

Verdict Form, the jury found SESDAC negligent, but concluded SESDAC’s 

negligence was not a legal cause of any damages.  Id.  Judgment on the Verdict 

was filed November 2, 2015, and Notice of Entry of Judgment was filed the next 

day.  CR 1729; 1730.   

 On or about November 18, 2015, Red Bear filed Renewed Motion for 

Judgment as a Matter of Law and Motion for New Trial.  CR 1734-1740.  The 

matter was briefed and a hearing was held on the Renewed Motion for Judgment 

as a Matter of Law and Motion for New Trial.  Red Bear presented several issues 

at the hearing, including:  (1) the court’s interpretation of SDCL § 29A-5-507; (2) 
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failure to give a spoliation instruction; (3) failure to grant the motion for change of 

venue; (4) the verdict was ambiguous; and (5) late disclosure of Exhibit 101.  CR 

3520-3545.  While the first four of these issues are on appeal, the last issue – the 

late disclosure of Exhibit 101 – is not at issue in this appeal.   

 The circuit court addressed each of the issues in turn, noting that as to the 

guardianship statute issue, it “relied not only on the guardianship statute as 

asserted by the plaintiff, but also just a lack of duty. . . . The Court’s still 

convinced that there wasn’t a duty owed by SESDAC in that circumstance and I’m 

not going to reconsider that.”  CR 3541.  As to the spoliation instruction issue, the 

circuit court noted, “what I’ve not heard and what I don’t see in the record in this 

case is that there is any evidence of an intentional destruction or bad faith 

destruction on the part of SESDAC which is what case law clearly requires. . . . 

the bottom line is the law is clear that in the absence of an intentional or bad faith 

instruction that [spoliation] instruction is not appropriate, so I don’t believe there’s 

any grounds for a new trial on that.”  CR 3541-42.   

 On the issue of change of venue, the circuit court noted the “jury was 

passed for cause.  There were no issues raised with – either pretrial or during the 

jury selection as to issues of racial composition or the like.”  CR 3542.  The court 

also noted the issue of relationship to SESDAC was “thoroughly addressed and 

discussed with the jurors and there were several that were stricken for cause as a 

result of their relationship with SESDAC.  And so I don’t believe there’s any 

grounds for new trial based on that request for change of venue.”  CR 3543.   
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 Regarding the issue of the jury’s refusal to award damages, the circuit 

court noted: 

[The jury] found negligence.  I don’t think they ever got to the 

question of damages because they didn’t find causation.  And the 

Court’s understanding is that’s what’s required.  You know, before 

there’s any miscarriage of justice finding when there’s no damages 

assessed, there’s got to be a situation here the jury’s found favorably 

for the plaintiff not only on negligence, but also on causation.  That 

didn’t occur here.   

 

CR 3543.
3
   

  The Court entered an Order denying Red Bear’s Renewed Motion for 

Judgment as a Matter of Law and Motion for New Trial on June 9, 2016, and 

Notice of Entry was filed the next day.  CR 2355-56.  Red Bear filed Notice of 

Appeal on July 8, 2016.  CR 2359.   

ARGUMENT 

I.  PARTIAL SUMMARY JUDGMENT WAS PROPERLY GRANTED 

 

 Red Bear’s first argument on appeal is that the circuit court erroneously 

interpreted SDCL § 29A-5-507, and had the court correctly interpreted that statute 

to find “that no legal guardianship existed beyond . . . the minute of Bill’s death,” 

it would have concluded SESDAC could not “legally handle Decedent’s remains.”  

Appellant’s Brief, p. 12.  Red Bear argues the “erroneous statutory interpretation 

by the trial court led the trial court to grant SESDAC’s motion for partial summary 

judgment as to the Count III claim. . . .”  Id. at 15.  The infirmities with this 

                                              
3
 The circuit court also fully addressed the issue of the late disclosure of Exhibit 101 at 

the hearing.  CR 3543.  This is not, however, an issue on appeal and need not be further 

addressed.   
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argument are (1) SESDAC was never Bill’s legal guardian, making § 29A-5-507 

completely inapplicable and irrelevant; and (2) the circuit court’s grant of partial 

summary judgment was not based on this statute, but upon the fact that SESDAC 

owed no duty to Bill or his heirs following Bill’s death. 

A.  SDCL 29A-5-507 is a Red Herring 

 SDCL § 29A-5-507 provides:  “A guardianship or conservatorship of a 

protected person shall terminate upon the death of the protected person, if 

jurisdiction is transferred to another state, or if ordered by the Court following a 

hearing.”  Regardless of the interpretation of this statute, it has no application here 

since SESDAC was never Bill’s legal guardian; rather, at all times, the State of 

South Dakota, which is not a party to this action,
4
 was Bill’s legal guardian.  

While the circuit court briefly referenced SDCL § 29A-5-507 at the summary 

judgment hearing, it is clear that the decision was not based on this statute.  

Rather, the circuit court’s decision to grant summary judgment on Count III was 

based on its conclusion that SESDAC owed no duty with respect to the handling 

of Bill’s remains and any such duty fell upon the State, Bill’s legal guardian.  This 

is evident from the summary judgment hearing transcript, the Order granting 

summary judgment, in which SDCL § 29A-5-507 is not even referenced, and the 

motion for new trial hearing in which the court restated its conclusion that there 

was not a duty owned by SESDAC.   

B.  Partial Summary Judgment Was Proper Based on the Lack of Duty 

                                              
4
 The applicable statute of limitations has long since expired.   
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 The Court’s review of summary judgment is well-settled: 

In reviewing a grant or a denial of summary judgment under SDCL 

15–6–56(c), we must determine whether the moving party 

demonstrated the absence of any genuine issue of material fact and 

showed entitlement to judgment on the merits as a matter of law. 

The evidence must be viewed most favorably to the non-moving 

party and reasonable doubts should be resolved against the moving 

party. The non-moving party, however, must present specific facts 

which demonstrate a genuine, material issue for trial. When no 

genuine issue of fact exists, summary judgment is looked upon with 

favor and is particularly adaptable to expose sham claims and 

defenses. Our task on appeal is to determine only whether a genuine 

issue of material fact exists and whether the law was correctly 

applied. If there exists any basis which supports the ruling of a trial 

court, affirmance of a summary judgment is proper. 

 

Clauson v. Kempffer, 477 N.W.2d 257, 258 (S.D. 1991) (other citations omitted).   
  

“[T]the determination of whether a defendant owes a duty to a plaintiff does not 

require an examination of the facts; it is a question of law and summary judgment 

is appropriate when the trial judge resolves the duty question in the defendant's 

favor.”  Id. (citing Erickson v. Lavielle, 368 N.W.2d 624, 627 (S.D. 1985)).  

Significantly, although the circuit court based its grant of summary judgment on 

its finding of no duty, Red Bear has not challenged that finding.  Rather, Red Bear 

challenges only the circuit court’s supposed interpretation of SDCL § 29A-5-507.  

As explained above, however, the circuit court’s decision granting summary 

judgment was not based on that statute, but upon its determination that SESDAC 

owed no duty with respect to Bill’s remains.   

 In any event, the Court can affirm the circuit court’s conclusion on any 

basis supported in the record.  See Farmland Ins. Companies v. Heitmann, 498 

https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000359&cite=SDSTS15-6-56(C)&originatingDoc=I2384a115ff6311d9b386b232635db992&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=L&pubNum=1000359&cite=SDSTS15-6-56(C)&originatingDoc=I2384a115ff6311d9b386b232635db992&refType=LQ&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)
https://1.next.westlaw.com/Link/Document/FullText?findType=Y&serNum=1985127809&pubNum=595&originatingDoc=I2384a115ff6311d9b386b232635db992&refType=RP&fi=co_pp_sp_595_627&originationContext=document&transitionType=DocumentItem&contextData=(sc.Search)#co_pp_sp_595_627
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N.W.2d 620, 622 (S.D. 1993) (“Review of the trial court’s order granting 

summary judgment will be affirmed if any basis exists which supports the 

ruling.”).  Therefore, even if the circuit court had partially based its decision on 

SDCL § 29A-5-507, which is explicitly denied, this Court can affirm based on the 

fact that the State, not SESDAC, had a duty to make the decisions regarding Bill’s 

remains.   

The evidence produced at the summary judgment stage demonstrated that 

indisputably, the State, not SESDAC, was Bill’s legal guardian; that the State, 

along with the hospital and police, made the decision not to conduct an autopsy; 

and the State, via Bill’s guardian representative, Nikki Clark, made the decision to 

have Bill’s body cremated.  SESDAC had no duty to make those decisions, nor did 

it actually make any such decisions.  The circuit court properly concluded that 

SESDAC had no duty regarding decisions made after Bill’s death and it properly 

granted SESDAC’s Motion for Summary Judgment on Count III.
5
   

II.  THE MOTION FOR CHANGE OF VENUE WAS PROPERLY DENIED 

 The second issue on appeal is whether the circuit court erred in denying 

Red Bear’s motion for change of venue.  Red Bear bases this argument on 

SESDAC’s “relationship” with the community in which the case was tried and the 

fact that no Native Americans were among the jury.   

                                              
5
 It is also significant that Red Bear brought this action only as the Administrator of Bill’s 

estate and not in her individual capacity.  It is impossible for Bill to have suffered any 

injuries or damages from decisions made after his death.  Further, Red Bear, having not 

sued in her individual capacity, could not recover for any alleged injury or damage 

resulting from decisions made regarding organ donation and cremation of Bill’s body.   
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 The standard of review on the circuit court’s ruling on a motion for change 

of venue is abuse of discretion.  See City of Sioux Falls v. Johnson, 1999 S.D. 16, 

¶ 32, 588 N.W.2d 904, 911; Bland v. Davison County, 1997 S.D. 92, ¶ 5, 566 

N.W.2d 452, 354-55.  “Abuse of discretion is ‘discretion exercised to an end or 

purpose not justified by, and against, reason and evidence.’”  Id. (other citations 

omitted).   

There is a presumption that a fair trial can be had in the county in which it 

originates.  See State v. Arguello, 502 N.W.2d 548, 551 (S.D. 1993).  A change of 

venue is warranted only when there “is reason to believe a fair trial cannot be had 

in the county in which the case is set to be tried.”  City of Sioux Falls, 1999 S.D. 

16, ¶ 33, 588 N.W.2d at 911.  The burden was on Red Bear to establish that a fair 

and impartial trial could not be had in Clay County.  See id.   

A.  Relationships to SESDAC 

 Red Bear argues that of the 65 potential jurors, many were “acquaintances, 

neighbors, affiliates, and/or business associates, of SESDAC or SESDAC officials 

or clients” and that due to this fact, “Red Bear was forced to weave her way 

through these sensitive areas. . . .”  Appellant’s Brief, p. 19.  Without any support 

whatsoever, Red Bear jumps to the conclusion that the “fact that SESDAC was 

well known to almost every 35 potential juror [sic], proved that this venue would 

not provide an impartial jury willing to award damages against a fellow lock 

business, who ‘did good’ in the community.”  Id.   In addition to the fact that there 

is simply no support for this bald assertion, the fact that Red Bear had the 
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opportunity, and in fact, did excuse or preempt jurors for their supposed prejudice 

or bias, belies Red Bear’s assertion that she was denied an impartial jury.  And, 

significantly, Red Bear’s counsel passed the jury for cause.  CR 3542.   

 The Court recognizes that “voir dire examination is the better forum for 

ascertaining” whether potential jurors harbor bias or prejudice.  Bland, 1997 SD 

92, ¶ 10, 566 N.W.2d at 456.  Red Bear acknowledges that during voir dire, she 

struck, for cause or peremptorily, “at least 10 to 15” jurors for their relationship 

with SESDAC.  Id.  In fact, Red Bear’s trial attorney questioned the jury panel at 

length about those relationships.  See CR 2389- 2435; 2444-45.   

If Red Bear had been unhappy with this method of screening out jurors 

with bias or prejudice, she could have asked to conduct voir dire in a variety of 

different ways.  See Bland, 1997 SD 92, ¶ 10, 566 N.W.2d at 456.  She did not, 

and in any event, was able to question the potential jurors about their relationship 

to SESDAC and screened out a significant number of jurors on that basis.  And, as 

noted above, the jury was passed for cause, which results in a waiver of this 

argument.  See State v. Weatherford, 416 N.W.2d 47, 52 (S.D. 1987) (in affirming 

denial of motion for change of venue, the court noted “none of the members of the 

jury had read the article, none of them were influenced by it, and all were passed 

for cause by defendant.”) (emphasis added).  There being no evidence that the 

remaining jurors could not judge the case impartially, Red Bear has not sustained 

her burden of proving that any potential bias or prejudice resulted in an unfair 

trial.  See id.   
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B.  Racial Discrimination/Diversity 

 Red Bear also argues that Native Americans were not represented on the 

jury and that one potential juror – a Native American woman – “was taken off by 

one of Defendant’s preemptive [sic] strikes” without a nondiscriminatory basis.  

Appellant’s Brief, p. 20.  Counsel for SESDAC takes extreme offense at the 

accusation that his striking of this juror was in any way racially motivated.   

This argument was not a basis for Red Bear’s Motion for Change of Venue.  

See Motion for Change of Venue (moving for change of venue “as a precautionary 

procedural device to avoid potential jurors with apparent and obvious conflicts of 

interest, not to be call into trial.”).  Further, an argument regarding racial 

discrimination is not properly part of the motion for change of venue, but is a 

constitutional challenge to the make-up of the jury.  See Appellant’s Brief, pp. 19-

20.   

Regardless of the nature of the issue, Red Bear has not preserved it for 

appeal, as neither the record nor the transcript reflects that she raised this issue 

with the circuit court.  Red Bear never filed any formal objection to the make-up 

of the jury or to the peremptory strike of the one juror, nor does the transcript 

reflect that any such objections were made.  On this basis alone, this argument 

should be rejected.  See State v. Arguello, 502 N.W.2d 548, 554 n. 4.  In Arguello, 

the defendant made the same claim as Red Bear – “Arguello argues that his right 

to a fair trial was denied under Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79 (1986), by the 

State’s illegal removal of the only two Indians on the panel.”  Id. (parallel citations 
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omitted).  In addressing the claim, the Court held, “[b]ecause Arguello did not 

object to the removal of either of these individuals at trial, he has failed to preserve 

this issue for appeal.”  Id. (citing Smolnikar v. Robinson, 479 N.W.2d 516, 518-19 

(S.D.1992)).   

Even if the Court were to consider the issue, Red Bear cannot sustain her 

burden of establishing a violation of her right to a fair trial.  The burden is on Red 

Bear to establish a Batson violation, and to do so, she must show: 

(1) the group excluded is a “distinct” group in the community; (2) 

the representation of this group in jury pools is not fair and 

reasonable in relation to the number of such persons in the 

community; (3) this under-representation is due to the systematic 

exclusion of the group from the jury-selection process. 

 

Arguello, 502 N.W.2d at 553.  “Theoretically, a panel could be composed entirely 

of women, men, blacks, whites, American Indians, or any combination.  Arguello 

has failed to show that the process was not random or that it was due to the 

systematic exclusion of the group from the jury-selection process.”  Id.  Similarly, 

in the present case, Red Bear has provided no facts upon which the Court could 

conclude that the make-up of the jury was due to the “systematic exclusion” of 

Native Americans.   

Further, there is no evidence that the peremptory strike of one Native 

American juror was based on her race, and in any event, she was just one potential 

juror.  There were a number of jurors who, during voir dire, spoke of their 

relationships with Native Americans in a positive light.  In short, there is nothing 
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in the record to suggest that the peremptory strike of this one juror had any effect 

on the outcome of the case.    
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III.  THE SPOLIATION INSTRUCTION WAS PROPERLY DENIED 

A.  Red Bear Failed to Cite Authority in Support of This Issue 

Red Bear claims the circuit court erred in denying her proposed spoliation 

jury instruction.  At trial, Red Bear argued for the spoliation instruction based on 

the argument that SESDAC had at least co-control over Bill’s body after his death 

and failed to request an autopsy, which would have allowed Red Bear to prove the 

cause of Bill’s death.   See CR 3449-50.  Red Bear fails to provide any argument 

and authorities regarding the Court’s standard in reviewing the refusal to give this 

instruction or any argument or authorities regarding the proper circumstances 

under which a spoliation instruction should be given.  See Appellant’s Brief, pp. 

20-24.  Rather, Red Bear simply rehashes facts regarding Bill’s death and the 

ensuing decisions, as well as unsupported arguments regarding the effect of the 

circuit court’s refusal to instruct on spoliation.  See id.   

As such, this issue should be disregarded.  See Veith v. O’Brien, 2007 S.D. 

88, ¶ 50, 739 N.W.2d 15, 29 (noting appellant “failed to cite any authority in 

support of his argument on appeal with regard to this instruction. Veith therefore 

waives this issue on appeal, with respect to Instruction No. 25, for failure to cite 

authority in violation of SDCL 15–26A–60(6)) (citing State v. Pellegrino, 1998 

S.D. 39, ¶ 22, 577 N.W.2d 590, 599 (citing State v. Knoche, 515 N.W.2d 834, 840 

(S.D.1994); State v. Dixon, 419 N.W.2d 699, 701 (S.D.1988)) (failure to cite 

supporting authority on appeal is a violation of SDCL 15–26A–60(6) and the issue 
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is thereby waived)).  In any event, this issue has no merit and provides no basis to 

reverse the jury’s verdict.   

B.  Standard of Review 

 The standard of review for rulings on a request to give a proposed jury 

instruction is abuse of discretion.  See State v. Engesser, 2003 SD 47, ¶ 15, 661 

N.W.2d 739, 746 (citing State v. Wright, 1999 S.D. 50, ¶ 12, 593 N.W.2d 792, 

797).  “To establish reversible error from a trial court’s refusal to give a requested 

instruction, the party asserting error must show that (1) the tendered instruction 

was a correct statement of the law, (2) the instruction was warranted by the 

evidence, and (3) the error in not giving the instruction was prejudicial.”  

Engesser, 2003 SD 47, ¶ 43, 661 N.W.2d at 746.  Red Bear can establish prejudice 

from the circuit court’s refusal to give the spoliation instruction only if she 

demonstrates the “jury would have returned a different verdict if the proposed 

instruction had been given.”  Id.   

C.  The Spoliation Instruction was Not Warranted 

The Court in Engesser explained that the “[i]ntentional destruction of 

evidence, a form of obstruction of justice, is called ‘spoliation.’”  Id. at ¶ 43, 661 

N.W.2d at 753 (emphasis added).  “Spoliation is more than simply the loss of 

evidence.”  Id. at ¶ 44, 661 N.W.2d at 753.  Rather, the adverse inference drawn 

from this intentional destruction of evidence is “predicated on bad conduct.”  Id.  

To be sure, “a showing of an intentional act of destruction” is required for the 

instruction to be warranted.  Id. at ¶ 44, 661 N.W.2d at 754.  In other words, only 
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“intentional destruction will sustain the rule’s rationale that the destruction 

amounts to an admission by conduct of the weakness of one’s case.”  Id.  Mere 

negligence is not enough.  Id. at ¶ 47, 661 N.W.2d at 755.  Rather, substantial 

evidence of four specific considerations must be met before giving a spoliation 

instruction: 

An instruction on the inference that may be drawn from the 

spoliation of evidence is proper only when substantial evidence 

exists to support a conclusion that the evidence was in existence, 

that it was in the possession or under the control of the party against 

whom the inference may be drawn, that the evidence would have 

been admissible at trial, and that the party responsible for destroying 

the evidence did so intentionally and in bad faith. 

 

Id. at ¶ 46, 661 N.W.2d at 755 (emphasis added).   

  In the present case, the circuit court correctly concluded the spoliation 

instruction was not warranted.  After all the evidence in the trial was submitted, 

the circuit court concluded, “there’s not . . . sufficient evidence to show that 

SESDAC was in control of the decision over the body and as a result of that the 

Court doesn’t believe those [spoliation] instructions are appropriate under the 

evidence as submitted.”  CR 3453.  Far from an abuse of discretion, the circuit 

court’s conclusions are sound.   

At trial, it was established that not one of SESDAC’s employees made any 

decisions regarding the handling of Bill’s body after his death, and specifically, 

not one of SESDAC’s employees made the decision to forego an autopsy.  It was 

further established that SESDAC had neither legal custody nor control over Bill; 

rather, the State of South Dakota was Bill’s legal guardian and Nikki Clark was 
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Bill’s guardian representative.  The State of South Dakota, through its employees, 

Nikki Clark and Velda Bartel, made the decisions regarding Bill’s remains.  

Additionally and significantly, the record and trial transcript are completely void 

of any evidence that any decisions were made with an intent to destroy evidence.   

On this evidence, the circuit court concluded the spoliation instructed was 

not warranted, specifically concluding there was insufficient evidence that 

SESDAC was in control of the decisions regarding Bill’s body.  Additionally, at 

the hearing on the motion for new trial, the circuit court noted there was no 

evidence that there was an intentional or bad faith destruction of the evidence.  

Red Bear has still not produced any evidence that SESDAC acted intentionally or 

in bad faith to destroy evidence, which is required for a spoliation instruction.  See 

Engesser, 2003 SD 47, ¶ 46, 661 N.W.2d at 755.   

In short, Red Bear failed to prove two of the elements to warrant a 

spoliation instruction – possession or control of the evidence and intentional or 

bad faith destruction of the evidence.  The circuit court’s ruling was not an abuse 

of discretion and does not warrant reversal.   

IV.  THE MOTION FOR NEW TRIAL WAS PROPERLY DENIED, 

AS THE VERDICT IS NOT INCONGRUENT OR AMBIGUOUS 

Red Bear’s final argument is that the circuit court erred in refusing to grant 

a new trial, arguing the jury’s verdict finding SESDAC negligent, but awarding no 

damages, was incongruent or ambiguous.  In her motion for new trial, Red Bear 

made this same argument to the circuit court, which having the benefit of hearing 
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all the evidence, concluded “I don’t think the jury got to the damage question.  

They found negligence, but I don’t think they ever got to the question of damages 

because they didn’t find causation.”  CR 3543.  The court concluded:  “before 

there’s any miscarriage of justice finding whether there’s no damages assessed, 

there’s got to be a situation where the jury’s found favorably for the plaintiff not 

only on negligence, but also on causation.  That didn’t occur here.”  Id.  As 

reflected on the Verdict Form, that is precisely what the jury found and the circuit 

court’s conclusion was correct.   

A.  Standards of Review 

The circuit court’s denial of a motion for new trial is reviewed for an abuse 

of discretion.  See Hossle v. Fountain, 1999 S.D. 104, ¶ 5, 598 N.W.2d 877, 878.  

“‘The term abuse of discretion refers to a discretion exercised to an end or purpose 

not justified by, and clearly against, reason and evidence.’”  Id. (quoting Moore v. 

Moore, 354 N.W.2d 732, 733 (S.D. 1984)).  “Whether a new trial should be 

granted is left to the sound judicial discretion of the trial court, and this Court will 

not disturb the trial court’s decision absent a clear showing of abuse of discretion. 

If the trial court finds an injustice has been done by the jury’s verdict, the remedy 

lies in granting a new trial. We determine that an abuse of discretion occurred only 

if no judicial mind, in view of the law and the circumstances of the particular case, 

could reasonably have reached such a conclusion.”  Rogen v. Monson, 2000 S.D. 

51, ¶ 17, 609 N.W.2d 456, 460. 



 

27 

 

Further, “on appeal of a jury verdict, the Supreme Court is required to view 

the evidence and all reasonable inferences from the evidence in the light most 

favorable to the verdict winner and conflicting evidence is to be resolved in favor 

of the verdict.”  Nelson v. Nelson Cattle Co., 513 N.W.2d 900, 903 (S.D. 1994).   

“The Supreme Court reviews the record to determine whether there is substantial 

evidence to allow reasonable minds to differ; the court does not weigh evidence 

and substitute its judgment for that of the jury.” Id.  In reviewing the sufficiency of 

the evidence to support a verdict, the court does not weigh conflicting evidence or 

pass upon the credibility of witnesses.  Id.  “These functions lie solely within the 

province of the jury as ultimate trier of fact.”  Id. (other citations omitted).  

 “It is, of course, presumed that the jury understood and abided by [the jury] 

instructions.”  First Nat. Bank v. Kehn Ranch, Inc., 394 N.W.2d 709, 720 (S.D. 

1986).  Where a “verdict is susceptible of two constructions, the construction that 

sustains the verdict must be applied.”  Id.  In this case, the jury’s verdict can 

readily be explained and it is neither incongruent nor ambiguous.   

B.  The Jury’s Verdict of No Damages is Sound 

The jury instructions in this case instructed, inter alia, that Red Bear had 

the burden of proving that “SESDAC was negligent in causing the death of 

Decedent, Darelle Red Bear, and SESDAC’s negligence was a direct cause of the 

injuries and damages claimed by Bernadine Red Bear in her representative 

capacity.”  CR 1705.  The instruction further explained to the jury the issues to be 

determined: 
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First, was the defendant negligent? 

If your answer to that question is “no,” you will return a 

verdict for the defendant.  If your answer is “yes,” you will have a 

second issue to determine, namely: 

Was that negligence a legal cause of any injury to the 

plaintiff? 

If your answer to that question is “no,” plaintiff is not entitled 

to recover; but if your answer is “yes,” you then will determine the 

amount of damages, if any, plaintiff is entitled to recover and return 

a verdict for the amount thereof.   

You should first determine the questions of liability before 

you consider the question of damages.   

 

CR 1654.  The Verdict Form similarly asked those questions:   

1.  Was SESDAC negligent?   

2.  Was SESDAC’s negligence a legal cause of Plaintiff’s damages?   

 

CR 1722.
6
   

The jury concluded SESDAC was negligent; however, it also concluded 

SESDAC’s negligence was not a legal cause of Red Bear’s damages, as very 

specifically set forth in the Verdict Form.  See id.  The jury followed the 

instructions given by the Court and rendered its verdict in a manner specifically 

contemplated by the jury instructions and the Verdict Form.  The jury’s verdict 

must, therefore, be upheld on this basis alone.  See Kehn Ranch, Inc., 394 N.W.2d 

at 720.   

                                              
6
 Red Bear does not take issue with these jury instructions or with the Verdict Form.   
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Further, Red Bear’s authorities cited in support of this argument are readily 

distinguishable.  In Baker v. Holman, 2011 WL 24114451 at *12 (N.D. Miss. 

2011), the jury concluded the plaintiff suffered “reasonably foreseeable emotional 

harm, but should be awarded no damages.”  The distinction between the Baker 

case and the present is that in Baker, the jury found not only that the defendant 

was negligent, but also that such negligence was the proximate cause of plaintiff’s 

harm.  See id. (noting “the jury must have found that the Plaintiff proved 

‘substantial proof of an emotional harm’ as well as ‘emotional distress damages’ 

stemming from that harm. The jury must also have found that the Defendant 

caused such injuries. However, the jury essentially negated the finding of an 

actual emotional injury by rendering a verdict of zero damages.”) (emphasis 

added).  In the present case, while the jury found negligence, it did not find that 

such negligence was the proximate cause of Red Bear’s injuries.  This is a 

significant distinction.   

In Hall v. Bergman, 994 A.2d 666, 669 (Conn. 2010), the jury was given 

general verdict forms – one finding in favor of plaintiff and one finding in favor of 

defendant.  Nevertheless, the jury in Hall returned two verdict forms with 

typewritten statements, requiring the trial court to send the jury back to deliberate.  

The court stated, the verdict forms “‘are not in compliance with the court’s 

instructions, which require that . . . you are to return one verdict. . . .  It’s not clear 

as to what exactly your verdict is, so I'm going to send you back and give you [a 
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clean set of verdict forms].’”  Id. (other citations omitted).  The jury later returned 

its verdict in favor of the plaintiff, but awarded plaintiff no damages.  See id.   

On appeal, the appeals court noted the jury was given and returned a 

general verdict form.  See id. at 674.  “[B]ecause multiple causes of action were 

submitted to the jury without interrogatories and the jury returned a general verdict 

for the plaintiff, the general verdict rule applies.  As we have explained, under that 

rule, we presume that the jury resolved every issue in the plaintiff's favor.  Thus, 

we presume that the plaintiff proved every element of each of her claims.”  Id. 

(emphasis added).  The court in Hall concluded, “[b]ecause we must presume that 

the plaintiff established actual injury under all three of her claims, we also must 

presume that the plaintiff established damages stemming from that injury.  As the 

Appellate Court observed, however, this presumption is inconsistent with the 

jury's award of zero damages.  Consequently, the jury verdict in favor of the 

plaintiff is insolubly ambiguous.”  Id.   

 The circumstances under which the verdict was found to be ambiguous and 

warranting reversal in Hall are not present in this case.  The parties did not provide 

the jury with a general verdict form, asking the jury to simply indicate whether it 

found in favor of Red Bear or SESDAC.  Rather, the jury was given a special 

verdict form in which it was asked several questions that mirrored the jury 

instructions.  Specifically, the jury was asked whether SESDAC was negligent and 

if so, whether such negligence was the proximate cause of Red Bear’s damages.  

As to this second question, the jury answered “no.”  The Court need not guess as 
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to the meaning of the jury’s verdict as in Hall.  It is clear that the jury found one of 

the essential elements to Red Bear’s claims – proximate cause – was lacking.  

Proof of negligence but not proximate cause does not make the verdict ambiguous 

in any way – it simply indicates the jury’s belief that Red Bear did not sustain her 

burden of establishing proximate cause.   

 Although details of the type of verdict are lacking in Malmberg v. Lopez, it 

appears that the same issue was present there as in Hall.  See Malmberg v. Lopez, 

546 A.2d 264 (Conn. 1988). The court in Malmberg noted, “the jury’s intent in 

finding the issues for the plaintiff, but awarding zero damages, is known only to 

the jurors, and this court’s endorsement of one plausible explanation of the verdict 

over another would amount merely to speculation.  Such ambiguity requires a 

rehearing in full, on both liability and damages.”  Id. at 268.  As in Hall the jury in 

Malmberg apparently found in plaintiff’s favor on all issues of liability – both 

negligence and proximate cause – yet inexplicably awarded no damages.  Again, 

such a scenario is not the case here, as the jury here specifically concluded that 

Red Bear did not establish SESDAC’s negligence was the proximate cause of 

injuries.   

 Even more ambiguity was present in Henry v. Henry, 2000 S.D. 4, ¶ 3, 604 

N.W.2d 285, 287, where the plaintiff sued her former husband for intentional 

infliction of emotional distress and assault, and the former husband asserted a 

counterclaim for defamation.  At trial, the “jury found for [plaintiff] on ‘all the 

issues under the Complaint’ and against [defendant] on his counterclaim.”  The 
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jury awarded zero compensatory damages, but $50,000 in punitive damages.  See 

id.  On appeal, this Court explained, “[p]atently, the jury believed Lois had been 

the victim of outrageous misconduct as evidenced by its punitive damage figure, 

but awarded no compensatory damages even though there was evidence in the 

record to support such an award. A new trial may be granted when damages 

appear inadequate or when a verdict contradicts the evidence.”  Id. at ¶ 9, 604 

N.W.2d at 289.   

 The present case is distinguishable from Henry because there is no 

indication in this case that the jury found for Red Bear “on all the issues under the 

complaint.”  To the contrary, the jury specifically found against Red Bear on the 

issue of proximate cause.  The jury’s verdict in this case does not contradict the 

evidence, as specifically concluded by the trial court.   

Reinfeld v. Hutcheson and Morrison v. Mineral Palace, Ltd., are also 

distinguishable, as the Court in both of those cases considered whether jury 

verdicts awarding damages for medical expenses, but for not pain and suffering, 

could be upheld, an issue not before the Court in this case.  See Reinfeld, 2010 

S.D. 42 ¶ 9, 783 N.W.2d 284, 287; Morrison, 1998 S.D. 33, ¶ 15, 576 N.W.2d 

869, 873.  In both cases, the Court found no evidence to contradict plaintiffs’ 



 

33 

 

claims that their injuries were painful.  See Reinfeld, 2010 SD 42, ¶ 14, 783 

N.W.2d at 289; Morrison, 1998 S.D. 33, ¶ 12, 576 N.W.2d at 872.
7
   

Where, as here, the jury fails to award damages because it has determined 

negligence was not the proximate cause of alleged injuries, a new trial is not 

warranted.  See e.g. Bridge v. Karl’s Inc., 538 N.W.2d 521 (S.D. 1995).  In 

Bridge, the plaintiff was injured in an automobile accident and the defendant 

admitted negligence.  See id. at 523.  After a jury trial, however, the jury returned 

a verdict for defendant, and plaintiff moved for judgment notwithstanding the 

verdict or new trial, both of which were denied.  See id.  On appeal, plaintiff 

argued that because the defendant admitted liability, there was nothing more for 

the jury to decide and it erroneously failed to award damages.  See id. at 523-34.   

The Court clarified that the defendant only admitted negligence, not 

liability, distinguishing it from a case in which a defendant admits both negligence 

and proximate cause, “leaving only the issue of the amount of damages for a jury 

determination.”  Id. at 524.  Thus, the “jury was called upon to make difficult 

choices as to proximate cause, and if established, the extent of damages, if any.”  

Id.  “As the plaintiff, Mike had the burden of proof on causation and the extent of 

his injuries, if any.  The jury found he failed in that burden.”  Id. at 525.   

                                              
7
 Welch v. Haase, 2003 S.D. 141, 672 N.W.2d 689, is likewise inapposite, as the trial 

court in that case, “removed all defenses from the jury's consideration, and the jury was 

instructed to only determine Welch’s damages,” which the jury failed to do.     
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In the present case, while negligence was not admitted by SESDAC, but 

was established by Red Bear, the jury was still called upon to determine both 

proximate cause and damages.  Like the jury in Bridge, the jury in this case 

concluded that Red Bear failed to establish proximate cause.
8
  As has been long 

recognized and is codified in SDCL § 21-3-1, proximate cause is a required 

element of any tort action, and in this case, the jury concluded, after hearing all the 

evidence, that Red Bear failed to establish this requisite element.   

The authorities from around the country are in agreement that a jury’s 

failure to award damages where it finds that negligence, but not proximate cause 

has been established, is not grounds for a new trial.  See Kleiss v. Cassida, 696 

N.E.2d 1271, 1278 (Ill. Ct. App. 1998) (“The jury’s verdict was not against the 

manifest weight of the evidence. There was sufficient evidence for the jury to 

reasonably infer that [defendant’s] negligent spraying was not a proximate cause 

of plaintiffs’ injury.”); Gaston v. Viclo Realty Co., 626 N.Y.S.2d 131, 132 (N.Y. 

1995) (court affirmed denial of new trial where plaintiff claimed the verdict was 

“inconsistent and irreconcilable,” where the “jury returned a verdict with 

interrogatories finding that defendant was negligent but that such negligence was 

not the proximate cause of plaintiff's injuries,” holding, “[p]roximate cause is a 

matter generally to be resolved by the finder of fact . . . and a finding thereof does 

                                              
8
 Unlike in Bridge, Red Bear does not argue that there is no evidentiary basis to support 

the jury’s finding that Red Bear failed to establish proximate cause.  See Bridge, 538 

N.W.2d at 524.  Rather, Red Bear argues only that the jury’s finding of negligence, 

without awarding damages is ambiguous, incongruent or irreconcilable.   



 

35 

 

not inevitably flow from a finding of culpable conduct.”) (internal and other 

citations omitted); Cassibo v. Bodwin, 386 N.W.2d 559, 561 (Mich. Ct. App. 

1986) (denying motion for new trial and JNOV, noting, “[w]hile violation of a 

statute creates a rebuttable presumption of negligence, the plaintiff still must show 

that such negligence was the proximate cause of his injuries.”). 

Here, too, there was sufficient evidence for the jury to conclude that any 

negligence by SESDAC was not the proximate cause of Bill’s death.  While we do 

not know the jurors’ exact thoughts as to what negligence SESDAC committed, 

Plaintiff argued not getting Bill to the doctor earlier was the fault.  SESDAC’s 

expert witness, Brad Randall, a forensic pathologist, testified that had Bill been 

seen by a physician in his last days, the result would have been the same, stating:  

“I think it’s very unlikely that, one, a doctor would have done anything different 

than was actually done at the home; and secondly, it’s very unlikely that a doctor, 

even had he more thoroughly examined Mr. Red Bear, would have found anything 

that would have signaled a disease that was imminently going to result in his 

death.”  CR 3275.  Dr. Randall opined:  “I don’t think a physician would have 

done anything that would have altered the course of what happened and I then, of 

course, would not believe that a nurse would have either.”  CR 3276. 

Dr. Randall also opined that Matt Miranda’s actions the day of Bill’s death 

were not the proximate cause of Bill’s death either, explaining: 

From what I read, the scene of when Mr. Red Bear was found 

unresponsive at the home, what he was -- what I saw in that was 

someone that had vomited in the course of dying.  It’s an extremely 
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common thing that happens.  It’s part of the dying reflex, if you will, 

that people in the course of dying vomit.  We see a large number of 

people that die with vomiting.  People that die of vomiting is almost 

unheard of.  And this is a reflex that happens almost at the last 

seconds of life.  So when you arrive at someone that has vomited in 

a situation such as this, the chance of resuscitating them is almost 

zero. 

 

CR 3276.   

Dr. Randall also expressed that those with schizophrenia, such as Bill, have 

an increased risk of sudden death:  “people that have a diagnosis of schizophrenia 

have an increased chance of dying suddenly and unexpectedly.  And when we do 

the autopsies on these individuals, we don’t find out why. There’s just something 

inherently wrong that makes them more likely to die suddenly and unexpectedly 

than other people.”  CR 3277.  In addition, Dr. Randall found no fault with the 

administration of Bill’s medications, found that Bill had no significant abdominal 

issue, that the temperature of 93.5 was likely inaccurate, that a temperature of 

101.7 was not significant.  CR 3278-79.   

It was for the jury to assess the evidence, including the experts’ opinions, 

and to determine what weight to give that testimony.  See State v. Lybarger, 497 

N.W.2d 102, 106 (S.D. 1993) (concluding there was evidence to sustain the jury’s 

verdict, holding “a jury is entitled to accept one witness’ version of the facts and 

reject another’s. . . . Black letter law would signify that the credibility of witnesses 

and weight to be accorded their testimony and weight of the evidence is for the 

jury.”) (internal and other citations omitted).  Viewing the evidence and all 

reasonable inferences from the evidence in the light most favorable to SESDAC, 
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as the Court must do, it is clear that sufficient evidence exists to support the jury’s 

conclusion that Red Bear did not sustain her burden of establishing proximate 

cause.  See Nelson, 513 N.W.2d at 903.    

In short, the authorities relied upon by Red Bear are inapposite and 

distinguishable and offer no support to her appeal because in those cases the juries 

had found for the plaintiffs on the issue of negligence and proximate cause, yet 

awarded no damages.  In this case, the jury specifically found against Red Bear on 

the issue of proximate cause.  The jury here made a specific finding, as it was 

properly instructed to do, regarding whether Red Bear sustained her burden of 

proving both negligence and proximate cause.  The jury concluded that while Red 

Bear proved SESDAC was negligent, she failed to prove that negligence was the 

proximate cause of any injuries.  Accordingly, the jury did not assess any 

damages.  Thus, the jury’s verdict is readily explained and is not incongruent, 

ambiguous or irreconcilable.  The circuit court properly denied Red Bear’s motion 

for new trial on this issue.   
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CONCLUSION 

 For all these reasons, SESDAC respectfully requests that the Court affirm 

the circuit court’s rulings and the jury’s verdict in all respects and affirm.  

Defendant/Appellant waives oral argument and believes the written submissions 

by the parties are sufficient for the Court to decide this appeal.   

 Dated December 30, 2016. 

 

  LYNN, JACKSON, SHULTZ & LEBRUN, P.C. 
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Dana Van Beek Palmer 
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STATE OF SOT]]'H DAKOTA

COLNTY OF CLAY

BERNADINE RED BEAIì., a/k/a
BERNADINE SHlEI,DS, as Adrninistrator
of lhe Estate of DARill-LE RED BEAR,
Deceased,

Plaintiff,

vs.

SESDAC,INC,,

Defenclant,

IN CIRCUIT COURT

FIRS']' JUDICIAL C]RCUIT

ctv. No. 1l-377

ORDER GIIANTI N G DEFENDANT'S
MOTION FOR PARTIAI, SUMMARY

JUDGMENT

)

This matter having corne l¡cfore the Court for hearìng on January 21,2015 at fhe Clay

County Courthouse ou l)efendant's Motion for Paftial Surnmary Judgment; and the parties

having appcared tÌrough counsel, Mr. Robin Zephier on behalf of Plaintiff and Ms.

Mjchelle Iìandall on behalf of Defenclant; and the Court Ì¡aving read and consideretl the

wrjtten sr¡bm.issions of thc parties, and having heard and considerecl lhe argurrtents attd

adrnissions of counsel for thc respective parties in open corrrt, tlre Corrrt fincls as follows:

l. 'l-hat no genuine issucs of rnaterial fact exisl;

2. 'fhal the law inrposes no duty on tìlc Dcfendant with respect to the clai¡ns rnade by

the Plaintiff in Count J'hree of lrer Complaint;

3. 1'hatanydutytlratrtrayhavcbccnorvetJtothePlaìntifTwithrespecttothehanrllingoI

the rlecedent's bocìy rvorrlcl fa)l to the deccdent's gLrarclian, lhc Statc of South Dakota;

App 1



4. That there is no evide¡tce that Defenclant engagcd in any i¡rtentionaì conduct which

would support a clailn for infliction olemotional distress; ancl

5. That Defendaltt js entitled to judgrrrerrt as a matter of law as to thc Third Cou¡t of

Plaintiffs Amenrlecl Complaint and all issues set forlh therein,

NOV/ 1'HEREFORE it is hereby ORDERED:

Summary Judgncnt should be and is hereby GRANTED in favor of Dcfencf ant

SESDAC,lnc. as to the Thjrd Count of Plaintiffs Amended Cornplaint and all of the issues

pled tlrercin. The reasons for the grant gf surnrnary j¡rdglnenl hereín are set forth above antl

C¡s-+g o¿Þlc.^[(7 &h¿
in, but not limited to, the transcript of tho oral flroceedings of January 2L,z}lsnwbichi*-

.atl^ched and inco po ateú by refEëñõë ã5 tiõü!'t fs" set for dr hereftr.

d[",Dated this

¡\'l"lES'I:
Jessica Bo,s-^ee

Cle¡k of Court

of February,20l5

(sEAL)

Y TIII] tJR'r':

onorabl e lì. Jensen

Circuit Judge
First Jucjicial Circuit

B

2
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STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA ) IN CIIìCUI]'COURI'
SS

COUNTY OF CLAY ) FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

BERNADINE RED BEAR, a/k/a
BERNADINE SHIELDS, as Adminislrator
of the Estate of DARELLE RED BEAR,
Deceased,

ctv. No. rt-3'77

Plaintiff, JUDGMENI' ON T}IE VERDICT

vS.

SESDAC,INC.,

Defendant

This matter having corne on for trial on October 19-23,2015,before this Court and a jury,

and the rnatter having been duly tried, and a jury having duly rendered its verdict in favor of

Defendant, SESDAC, lnc., on the 23rcl clay of October, 2015, it is hereby

ORDERED AND ADJUDGED that judgrnent be and is entered in favor of Defenda¡t,

SESDAC, lnc., and that Defcndant is cntitlcd to recove¡'fì'onl Plaintiff its cost ancl clisbursernents

in the arnount of $ rred in defense of this matter

?n!,Dated this

A'I"I'EST:
CI-ERK OF COTJRTS

B THE

able tevcrl R,

Circuit Coufl Judge

ef, 201 5

elrsen

(sEAL)
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VERDfCT Page 1 of 1

STATE OF SOUTH DAKOTA

COLTNTY OF CI,AY

BERNADINE RED BEAR, a/k/a
BERNADINE SHIELDS, as Adrninisrrator
of the Estate of DARELLE RED BEA,tì,
Deceased,

Plaintiffs

vs

SESDAC,lnc.,

IN CIRCIJIT COURT

FIRST JUD]CIAI, CIRCUIT

biu. t t-rzt

VERDICT FORM

Defendant

jury, duly impaneled in the above-entitlecl aclion. and sworn to try the issues,

1. V/as SESDAC negligent? Ycs /No

¿oô

We, the
find as follows:

(If your answer to Question No. I is "yes", then you must answer qucstion No.2. If
your ans\rycr is "no" you are finished antl the jury foreperson shouirl date and sign
the Verdicf Form.)

2. Was SESDAC's negligence a legalcause of Plaintiff's damages? yes

(If your ansvvet to Question No. 2 is "ycs", thcn you must answer euestion N0.3. If
your ânswer is "no", you irì'c finishe d and the jury forcper.so¡¡ should date and sign
the Vcrdict Form.)

3. a. What amount of damages, if any, do you determine shor¡ld be awarded for Darelle Red
Bear's wrongful death?

b. What amount of damages, if any, do you detcrmine Bill Red lJear suffered prior to his
death?

(After you have complcted your ânswers to Question No. 3 you âre finished and the
foreperson should sign and date the Verdicl Form.)

Datecl this 23 day of October', 201 5

Foreperson

<.
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S'TATE OF SOU'IT] DAK01'A

COLIN]Y OP CLAY

BERNADINE RBD BEAR, aKa

BERNADINE SHIELDS, as Ä.drninisrrator
olthe Estate of DARELLE RED BEAR,
f)eceased,

Plaintifl,

vs,

SESDAC,INC.,

Defendant.

T

IN CIRCUIT COURT

FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CivilNo. 11-377

ORDER DENYING PLAINTTFF'S
RENEWED MOTTON FOR JUDGMENT AS
A MATTER OF LAW AND MOTION FOR

NEW TRIAL

SS

)

)

)

)

)

)
)
)
)

)
)
)

FffrFÐ
JUN 0I 20ts

r., ¡*'olf;f,.Îr#,f H,Í,lnî,'f",.
The parties having appeared belbrc the Court on June 8, 2016, with Plaintitf represenled

by Robin I., Zephier and Def'endant represcnted by R, Alan Peterson, a¡ld lhe Court having

reviewed and considcred the record on fìle and the written and oral arguments a¡rd authorities

submittcd by the pafics, it ís hereby ORDERED that the Plaintifls Renewdd MoLion for

Judgment as a Matter of l-aw aild Moti<;n for Ncw 'lrinl is denied.

q,l|, . :-f-' 
"(tDated this I t day of qJ \*rV v--- , 201ó.

ll

ll

TI'IE

R. JENSEN
Circuit Court Judge

(sEAL)
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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT  

Appellant restates the Jurisdictional Statement, Statement of Legal Issues, 

Statement of the Case and Statement of the Facts as stated in the Appellant's Brief. 

Appellant submits this Reply Brief in order to clarify the issues, her position, and to the 

extent new material was introduced by the Appellees.  All prior arguments made in 

Appellant’s brief filed on October 28, 2016 are hereby incorporated.   

Appellant will refer to Appellee’s (SESDAC’s Brief hereafter as “SB”.  

References to Appellant’s initial brief will be referred to as “AB”.  The Voir Dire 

transcript will be referred to as “VT”. 

DISPUTED MATERIAL FACTS: 

Appellant disputes portions of the Appellees' Statement of the Facts and asserts 

the following: 1) Appellee incorrectly states that O’Connor had no input into the decision 

not to conduct an autopsy.  SB 5.  Exhibit 1 of the Clerk’s Physical Exhibit List is a 

recording in which this Court will be able to clearly hear Rennae O’Connor in the 

background giving the direction to Clark throughout the telephone call and conversation 

where decisions were made about whether an autopsy should be conducted on Bill.  

There is no mistake that O’Connor is the one dictating those decisions.  Additionally, 

O’Connor herself testified she had input in decisions involving Bill’s body.  AB 

Appendix, p. 100-104; O’Connor TT 136-140; O’Connor Depo pp. 25-53).  2)  Appellee 

also incorrectly tells this Court that none of the potential jurors spoke of any prejudicial 

feelings toward Native Americans in Voir Dire.  SB  9.  When discussion was brought up 

about racism and impartiality, the discussion started with prejudicial feelings toward 

Native Americans.  VT 63-71.  First there was a prospective juror that discussed his 
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relatives’ disputes with Native Americans due to land issues.  VT 63-65.   When asked 

whether such disputes had to do with a difference in race, the prospective juror indicated 

it did and that he is likely influenced by his relatives’ thoughts at trial.  Id. at 63.   The 

prospective juror went further by stating he would be leaning in a negative way against 

the Appellant because of those experiences and it would be an “uphill” fight for him.  Id. 

at 65.  Shortly thereafter, another prospective juror who initially indicated that he had in 

fact had positive experiences with Native Americans in the past, described being jaded 

because he had recently been attacked by two Native Americans.  VT 68-71. 3)  Appellee 

gives contradictory facts about the reasoning the trial court gave for granting summary 

judgment on Count III of Plaintiff’s Complaint.  SB 10, 13.  Appellee cited to the 

transcript from the trial court wherein the trial court stated that as to the guardianship 

statute issue, it “relied not only on the guardianship statutes as asserted by the plaintiff, 

but also just a lack of duty …”  SB 10, citing to CR 3541.  Thus, the trial court made its 

decision in part on the interpretation of the guardianship statute.  It did not exclude the 

statute from its consideration.  Later at SB 13, the Appellee stated the decision was not 

based at all on the statute but only the alleged lack of duty.  SB 13.  Appellee cannot have 

it both ways.  The citation to the record on Appellee’s brief on page 10 is accurate.  Its 

factual assertion on page 13 is not accurate. 

 

ARGUMENT 

I. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED CLEAR ERROR, 

REVERSABLE ERROR AND ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY 

INTERPRETATING SDCL § 29A-5-507 TO EXTEND LEGAL 

GUARDIANSHIP BEYOND DECEDENT’S DEATH? 
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The gist of Appellee’s argument is that Appellant did not address the trial court’s 

finding as to the lack of duty on the part of SESDAC and that the trial court did not rely 

upon an interpretation of the guardianship statute in granting partial summary judgment 

and its pretrial and post-trial rulings. 

As stated in the above disputed facts, the Appellee is contrary when it first recites 

in its Statement of Facts that the trial court relied partially on SDCL 29A-5-507 in 

deciding on the guardianship issue and then later argues in its brief the trial court did not 

rely at all on an interpretation of the statute.  SB 10, SB 13.  Appellant asserts the trial 

court did in fact rely upon its interpretation of the statute and that is what precisely led to 

the erroneous ruling where the court found the statute had a residual effect beyond death.  

CR 3541.  This ruling led to the partial granting of summary judgment in favor of 

SESDAC and led to the related pretrial and post-trial rulings.  

The record is well preserved that Appellant strongly disagreed with the trial 

court’s interpretation of the statute and in her brief cited numerous authorities on 

statutory construction, which are left unchallenged by Appellee.  Accordingly, such 

argument should be deemed waived by Appellee. 

Appellant did make arguments as to SESDAC’s duty.  The duty was that 

SESDAC failed in following its own policies to its clients. AB 12. The evidence was 

present that SESDAC is the one who had the information about how Bill wanted to be 

buried and where and yet disregarded those wishes.  AB 17-18. 
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II. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED CLEAR ERROR, 

REVERSABLE ERROR AND ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY 

DENYING RED BEAR’S MOTION FOR CHANGE OF VENUE? 

 

The record is replete with the potential jury pool’s relationship with SESDAC.  In 

the record for the motions hearing, June 8, 2016, Appellant made clear that given the 

huge presence SESDAC had in the Clay County community --- which was evidenced by 

the voir dire examination --- the jury likely had an inclination to let them off the hook.   

The likely bias extended beyond direct contact with SESDAC.  As stated by a few 

potential jurors, they had friends or family that were “long-term” employees of SESDAC.  

VT 12-14. 

As stated above in Appellant’s Material Disputed Facts, Appellee wrongly 

asserted that there was no negative commentary on Native Americans.  First there was a 

prospective juror that discussed his relatives’ disputes with Native Americans due to land 

issues.  VT 63-65.   When asked whether such disputes had to do with a difference in 

race, the prospective juror indicated it did and that he is likely influenced by his relatives’ 

thoughts at trial.  Id. at 63.   The prospective juror went further by stating he would be 

leaning in a negative way against the Appellant because of those experiences and it 

would be an “uphill” fight for him.  Id. at 65.  Shortly thereafter, another prospective 

juror who initially indicated that he had in fact had positive experiences with Native 

Americans in the past, described being jaded because he had recently been attacked by 

two Native Americans.  VT 68-71. 3). 

Appellee’s argument that Appellant could have tried another method during voir 

dire runs flat.  The trial court already made its ruling and Appellant was stuck with the 

jury pool as was drawn. 
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III. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED CLEAR ERROR, 

REVERSABLE ERROR AND ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY 

DENYING RED BEAR’S REQUEST FOR A SPOILATION 

INSTRUCTION?  

 

A. Appellant properly cited legal authority in support of its argument that 

the trial court committed clear error by denying a spoliation instruction. 

 

Appellee states that Appellant failed to cite any legal authority regarding this 

issue and therefore any argument should be disregarded.   This is untrue.  Appellee did 

spend a large amount of time in her brief providing this Court with facts that support why 

there should have been a spoliation instruction given in this case.   But Appellee clearly 

cited to South Dakota Codified Law as to the basis for its argument.    

 In Appellant’s brief, she argued that SESDAC had a legal responsibility under 

SDCL § 34-26-16(2) and §34-26-14 to use reasonable, due diligence to search for and 

find and contact Bill's next of kin about his prolonged illness, and then, immediately after 

he was declared dead.  AB  24.  Thereafter, Appellee cited to SDCL §29A-5-507, when 

arguing that Clark (on behalf of the State) and Bartel (on behalf of SESDAC) had no 

legal authority to act at all once Bill died. AB 24.   

 Appellee’s argument that Appellee’s argument should be waived since no legal 

authority cited is without basis or merit. 

B. The spoliation instruction was warranted because SESDAC destroyed the 

best evidence of their negligence. 
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The best evidence of SESDAC’s negligence before and after Bill’s death was 

Bill’s body.  TT 165-166.  Appellant provided testimony at trial, through Dr. Robert Bux 

that if you have an autopsy: 

Not only can you find a cause of death, that often times you can find 

contributing things and you can rule in or rule out.  When you do an 

autopsy, particularly on someone who has died suddenly, you have about a 

98% rate of coming up with a supportable specific cause of death. 

 

TT 165-166.  Appellee’s own physician, Dr. Brad Randall agreed with this opinion albeit, 

Dr. Randall stated the rate is more like 95%.  TT 800.   Accordingly when SESDAC 

“destroyed” Bill’s body, it destroyed the best evidence Appellant would have had to show 

negligence, causation and damages. 

Appellee argues Appellant failed to produce evidence that SESDAC acted 

intentionally to destroy evidence.  The entire thrust of Appellant’s argument here is that 

when the trial court denied Appellant from presenting evidence on its Count III claims, 

which Appellant believes would have shown the lack of care that resulted in Bill’s death 

and also provided evidence of the unauthorized decisions made regarding autopsy, 

cremation and the donation of body parts, it denied Appellant proof it needed to provide a 

causal link or nexus between SESDAC’s conduct and the resulting damages. 

Appellant made an offer of proof at trial on the issue.  TT 406-410.  The offer 

stated that in addition to witness testimony the audio recording of the discussions wherein 

it is clear that Rennae O’Connor (a SESDAC employee) was directing the decisions to be 

made about the autopsy, disposal of remains, etc. would provide such evidence of intent, 

control and possession   Id.  Appellant urges this Court cannot adequately scrutinize the 

error of the trial court’s decision without listening to the audio and urges this Court to do 

so.   
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Ultimately when the trial court refused to allow the above-described evidence to 

come in, it also had the residual effect of leading the trial court to erroneously rule that 

Appellant was not allowed an instruction on spoliation.  This had an absolutely 

prejudicial effect on Appellant’s case.  

IV. WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT COMMITTED CLEAR ERROR, 

REVERSABLE ERROR AND ABUSED ITS DISCRETION WHEN 

IT DENIED RED BEAR A NEW JURY TRIAL BASED UPON THE 

INCONGRUENT AND AMBIGUOUS JURY VERDICT? 

 

   

 

CONCLUSION 

For the foregoing reasons, Red Bear respectfully requests this Court 

reverse the trial court’s decision and remand for a new trial. 

REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT 

     Red Bear respectfully requests to present oral argument on these issues. 

Dated this 2
nd

 day of February, 2017. 

      Respectfully submitted, 

      /s/ Shiloh MacNally 

      Shiloh MacNally 

       MacNally Law Office 

      816 Sixth Street 

      Rapid City, SD  57701 

      (605) 716-3867 

 

      Robin L. Zephier 

      P.O. Box 9460 

      Rapid City SD  57709 

      (605) 342-0097 
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